TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE	- 1 -
II.	DEPRECIATION CALCULATIONS BASED ON FORECAST THROUGH 2013	ACTIVITY - 5 -
III.	THEORETICAL RESERVE IMBALANCE	- 18 -
IV.	PRODUCTION PLANT NET SALVAGE	- 29 -
V.	PRODUCTION PLANT INTERIM SURVIVOR CURVES	- 36 -
VI.	MASS PROPERTY LIFE ANALYSIS	- 55 -
	General Issues	55 -
	Actuarial Life Analysis	59 -
	Simulated Plant Record Analysis	75 -
VII.	MASS PROPERTY NET SALVAGE	- 78 -
	General Discussion	79 -
	Description of Methods	83 -
	Acceptance of Methods	85 -
	Uniform System of Accounts	86 -
	Treatment in Other Jurisdictions	93 -
	Treatment in Authoritative Depreciation Texts	97 -
	Comparison of Methods	99 -
	Straight Line Method vs. Decelerated	99 -
	Impact on Customer Rates	102 -
	Cost Based	106 -
	Implementation of Mr. Dunkel's Proposal	109 -
	Summary	113 -
VIII.	CONCLUSION	113 -

1		I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE
2	Q.	Are you the same John J. Spanos that submitted direct testimony in this
3		proceeding?
4	A.	Yes.
5	Q.	What is the purpose of your rebuttal testimony in this proceeding?
6	A.	I am responding on behalf of PacifiCorp, d/b/a Rocky Mountain Power ("PacifiCorp,"
7		"RMP" or the "Company"), to the testimony of Office of Consumer Services'
8		("OCS") witnesses Mr. Dan Gimble and Mr. Jacob Pous; Division of Public Utilities'
9		("DPU") witness Mr. William Dunkel; and Utah Association of Energy Users'
10		("UAE") witness Mr. Neal Townsend.
11		Specifically, I will address issues related to the following:
12		1. The use of forecast 2013 plant and reserve balances for the calculation
13		of depreciation rates and accruals;
14		2. The Company's theoretical reserve imbalance;
15		3. Production plant net salvage;
16		4. Production plant interim survivor curves;
17		5. Certain issues related to the Company's estimated decommissioning
18		costs; and
19		6. Mass Property Net Salvage.
20		Mr. K. Ian Andrews will also address issues raised by each party related to the
21		Company's generating plants. Mr. Henry E. Lay will also address issues related to the
22		application of the depreciation rates to general customer rates; the hydro

23		decommissioning reserve; the timing of the Company's next depreciation study; and
24		the depreciation rates for mining equipment.
25	Q.	Can you please summarize each issue in your rebuttal testimony?
26	A.	Yes. A summary of each issue is as follows.
27		2013 Projected Plant and Reserve Balances
28		• For the depreciation study the Company has calculated depreciation
29		rates based on a future test year of 2013, which corresponds to the
30		implementation date for the depreciation rates.
31		• The projected future test year aligns the depreciation rates with plant in
32		service as of the implementation date, and is necessary due to
33		significant capital investments the Company has made and is planning
34		to make since the end of the depreciation study test period of 2011.
35		• Contrary to the presentation in many of the parties' testimonies, this is
36		not a projection of "future interim additions" over the entire remaining
37		life of plant based on "considerable speculations" intended to achieve
38		a single depreciation rate through the lives of each generating plant,
39		but is instead simply a projection made to align the deprecation rates
40		with the period in which they are implemented.
41		Theoretical Reserve Imbalance
42		• Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Townsend have proposed a separate amortization
43		of calculated theoretical reserve imbalances in addition to the
44		remaining life depreciation rates that have traditionally used by RMP.

- Such an amortization for a Company such as RMP that uses the remaining life technique is unnecessary, as the Company's theoretical reserve imbalances are not material compared to the size of its investment base.
- The proposals by Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Townsend will fail to match
 costs with the consumption of assets and expose future customers to
 risks based on the potential for early retirements of the Company's
 power plants.
- The depreciation study as proposed by the Company allocates the
 imbalance to customers over the assets' remaining lives rather than
 benefit a selected generation of customers.
- 56 <u>Production Plant Net Salvage</u>

57

58

59

60

61

- Mr. Andrews will address this issue in detail in his rebuttal testimony.
- My rebuttal testimony will address an incorrect presentation by certain parties of a recent Nevada Power case in which my firm was involved.
 - I will also address Mr. Pous' incorrect opinion that the sale price of land should offset any decommissioning costs for production plant.

62 <u>Production Plant Interim Survivor Curves</u>

- Mr. Pous claims that the Company's method for estimating interim
 retirements for the Company's production plants is inappropriate and
 recommends a different method.
- The methodology used by the Company widely accepted and is most
 appropriate for estimates of interim retirements.



Mr. Pous' methodology is an approximation of the Company's more 68 ٠ 69 accurate methodology. 70 As I will demonstrate, Mr. Pous' methodology is in fact a poor 71 approximation and significantly understates the Company's interim 72 retirements when compared to the Company's actual experience. 73 Mass Property Life Analysis 74 Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Pous have recommended different service life 75 estimates than those in the depreciation study for certain transmission 76 and distribution plant accounts. 77 While some of the differences are due to a different interpretation of 78 historical data, Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Pous have not taken into account a 79 number of other considerations that I have presented in the 80 depreciation study and in discovery. 81 Mass Property Net Salvage 82 Mr. Dunkel has proposed a radical change to the longstanding and 83 widely accepted traditional straight line method for accruing for net 84 salvage in depreciation rates. Mr. Dunkel has provided very little evidence that such a significant 85 86 departure from the traditional ratemaking treatment for net salvage is either widely accepted or necessary, except to provide an incorrect 87 88 interpretation of a Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") 89 Order.

Mr. Dunkel's methodology defers costs to future customers and results
in customer rates that are higher than the traditional method on a cost
of service basis.

93 II. DEPRECIATION CALCULATIONS BASED ON FORECAST

94

ACTIVITY THROUGH 2013

95 Q. Please explain the process you used for forecasting activity to 2013.

96 A. The depreciation study itself was based on the most recent historical year end data 97 available at the time of the study. For reasons discussed below, for the purposes of 98 calculating depreciation rates and accruals the estimated plant and reserve balances as 99 of December 31, 2013 were used to calculate the depreciation rates and accruals for 100 each plant account and generating plant. At the time this calculation was performed, 101 actual plant additions and retirements were available the first eight months of 2012. 102 In addition to this recorded information, the Company's capital budget for 2012 and 103 2013 was used to estimate additions for the remainder of 2012 and for 2013. I then 104 used the estimated survivor curves and net salvage estimates from the depreciation 105 study to estimate the retirements, cost of removal and gross salvage for this period. 106 Using the actual and projected additions, retirements, cost of removal and gross 107 salvage, I was able to calculate the annual depreciation accruals for 2012 and 2013, as 108 well as the ending plant and reserve balances at December 31, 2013. The year-end 109 2013 date corresponds with the date these rates will be in effect, and so the 110 December 31, 2013 balances were used to calculate the appropriate depreciation 111 expense and rates at the date of the implementation of the Company's depreciation 112 rates.

113 **Q.** What is the reason for this approach?

A. The reason for this approach is that because of the time period between the December 31, 2011 test year for the study and the implementation of the depreciation rates as of December 31, 2013, the depreciation rates will no longer be appropriate, due to the significant capital investments the Company has made and will make for 2012 and 2013. As I will explain, this is particularly true for the Company's power plants which use the life span method.

Q. Would applying the depreciation rates calculated at December 31, 2011 to projected 2013 balances result in a reasonable estimate of depreciation expense at December 31, 2013?

A. No, it would not. The depreciation rates would be too low, as Mr. Dunkel actually unwittingly demonstrates in his direct testimony¹. The primary reason depreciation rates would be too low is because for life span property (e.g. the Company's power plants), new additions have a shorter life than the life of the entire unit. As a result, new additions will have a higher depreciation rate.

128 Q. Please provide a simple example to illustrate this concept for life span property.

A. Consider as a simple example a power plant that was placed in service at a cost of
\$10 million. The plant has a 40 year life span. \$5 million in plant is added at age 20.
Assuming for the point of illustration there are no interim retirements and no interim
net salvage, then the depreciation expense for the first twenty years is \$250,000,
based on the forty year life of the original assets installed.

¹ Direct Testimony of Mr. William Dunkel, p. 22, lines 336-400.

However, at age 20 \$5 million is added that has a life of 20 years. Thus, the depreciation expense increases to \$500,000². Thus, the depreciation expense doubles, while the plant balance only increases by 50 percent. The depreciation expense increases not only because there are more dollars on the books, but also because the new investment has a shorter 20-year service life.

To illustrate this point further, the depreciation *rates* over the full 40-year life span of the plant are shown in Figure 1 below. As the chart demonstrates, the addition made in year 20 results in a significant increase in the depreciation *rate*. The depreciation rate increases from 2.5 percent to 3.33p percent. For this reason, the application of the existing 2.5 percent rate beyond year 20 would be inadequate to recover the costs of plant in service.





² Based on a twenty year life for \$5 million of the investment and a forty year life for the remaining \$10 million in investment.

145 Q. Does the same concept apply to PacifiCorp's power plants?

146 Α. Yes. For example, the plant balance for Account 312, Boiler Plant Equipment, was 147 approximately \$575 million at the end of 2011. For the calculation at the end of 2013, 148 the plant balance is projected to be approximately \$688 million. Due to the increase 149 in investment, the depreciation rate at 2013 increases to 5.72 percent from 5.11 percent. Almost all of this increase is due to an actual recorded - not projected -150 151 addition of \$114 million that occurred in the first part of 2012. If the proposals of 152 Messrs. Dunkel, Pous and Gimble were accepted to exclude activity beyond the end 153 of 2011, then the depreciation rate would be much too low. For this account, at this 154 plant alone, the 2013 depreciation accruals would be over \$4 million too low at the date of implementation³. 155

Q. Mr. Dunkel argues that the proposal based on projected 2013 balances "goes far beyond adjusting just for the higher investment expected at the end of 2013 as compared to the investments at the end of 2011⁴." Is he correct?

A. No, he is not. The increases in depreciation expense from the calculations at the end of 2011 to the calculations at the end of 2013 are due entirely to changes in plant and reserve balances (i.e. due to "higher investment"). No life or net salvage parameters have changed from the 2011 calculations to the 2013 calculations. The reason depreciation increases more than Mr. Dunkel expects is due to the concept that depreciation rates for life span property will increase as new investment is added.

³ The calculated depreciation expense at year end 2013 in the study is \$39,361,986. Based on the 5.11 percent rate it would be \$35,180,870.

⁴ Direct Testimony of Mr. Dunkel, p. 22, lines 344-346.

Q. Is Mr. Dunkel's argument that only \$46.1 million, of the total \$121.7 million
increase from 2011 to 2013, is caused by "higher projected investment" correct?⁵
A. No, it is not. Instead, Mr. Dunkel's discussion actually presents a convincing
argument as to why depreciation rates need to be recalculated at 2013 and why using
the 2011 depreciation rates is inadequate – that is, Mr. Dunkel's discussion actually
demonstrates the exact opposite of what he intends to show.

171 In his testimony, Mr. Dunkel calculates the total increase in depreciation 172 expense from 2011 to 2013 to be approximately \$121.7 million, based on the 173 calculation of new depreciation rates at the end of 2013. If instead the depreciation 174 rates calculated at the end of 2011 are applied to the 2013 plant balances, the increase in depreciation expense is only approximately \$46.1 million. While Mr. Dunkel 175 176 claims that the additional \$75.6 million change in depreciation expense cannot be "explained by the projected increase in investment,:⁶ this difference is in fact due to 177 178 the concept I have explained in the example set forth in Figure 1 above. Specifically, 179 because a large portion of the new investment is at PacifiCorp's generating facilities 180 that use the life span method, the lives of these new investments are shorter than those 181 of existing plant. Thus, the depreciation rates must increase to account for the shorter 182 lives.

183 Q. Please explain what the \$75.6 million number Mr. Dunkel cites actually 184 represents.

185

A. Due to the fact that depreciation rates must increase to account for the shorter lives of

⁵ Direct Testimony of Mr. Dunkel, p. 22, lines 336-340.

⁶ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 21, line 332 to p. 22, line 333.

186 new investment, the \$75.6 million actually represents the shortfall in depreciation 187 expense that would occur if the depreciation rates calculated at 2011 are simply applied to forecast 2013 plant balances – if the 2011 depreciation rates are used for 188 189 2013 balances, the depreciation expense of \$75.6 million would be too low. Simply 190 put, this \$75.6 million amount is precisely why depreciation rates need to be 191 recalculated at 2013 in order to accurately reflect plant in service at the date of 192 implementation.

Mr. Pous and Mr. Gimble refer to your approach as the inclusion of "interim 193 **Q**. 194 additions." Is this an accurate description?

I do not agree with either witness' characterization of my approach. In the context of 195 Α. 196 the arguments and citations provided by both Mr. Pous and Mr. Gimble, their 197 definition and use of the term "interim additions" is inaccurate. In fact, it is notable 198 that Mr. Pous' own testimony provides two different definitions of interim additions, 199 which are not consistent with one another. On page 11 of his testimony, Mr. Pous 200 defines interim additions as "theoretical or estimated future dollars of capital for 201 either replacing existing facilities or adding new facilities," and then notes that "such 202 additions are referred to as interim since they do not reflect the dollars of investment in service as of the end of the depreciation test year."⁷ Mr. Gimble provides a similar 203 definition in his footnote on page 4 of his testimony.⁸ 204

205 This definition is incorrect and, in particular, is incorrect as it applies to the

206

sources cited by Mr. Pous in his testimony. In fact, Mr. Pous' definition is

⁷ Direct Testimony of Mr. Jacob Pous, p. 11, lines 291-294.

⁸ Mr. Gimble has since revised his definition to be the same as set forth in National Association of Regulatory Utility ("NARUC").

207 contradicted by his own testimony. In footnote 4 on page 3 of his testimony, Mr. Pous cites the definition from the National Association of Regulatory Utility 208 209 Commissioners' ("NARUC") Public Utility Depreciation Practices, which defines 210 interim additions "as used in life span analysis, additions made subsequent to the year in which the unit was placed in service."⁹ In other words, interim additions are 211 212 additions made to life span property (such as a power plant) that occur at any time 213 after the initial year in which the plant was placed in service. Interim additions are not 214 "future additions." Instead, they include both past and future occurrences.

Q. How do interim additions differ from the proposal to use data through 2013 in the depreciation study?

A. They are two distinct concepts. The additions through 2013 are not just for life span property, but for all types of plant. For example, PacifiCorp has included forecast additions for Account 364 Poles, Towers and Fixtures. Since this account does not represent life span property, these additions are not interim additions.

Q. Is most of the activity from 2011 to 2013 future interim additions, which Mr. Pous discusses at length in his testimony?

- A. No. The activity from 2011 to 2013 contains approximately \$2.2 billion in additions.
 Of this amount, approximately \$1.3 billion is for assets that are not life span property
 that is, over half of the additions are not interim additions at all. Additionally, of the
 approximately \$900 million in interim additions for life span property, approximately
 \$432 million are for actual recorded additions that occurred from January 2012
 - ⁹ National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners, *Public Utility Depreciation Practices* (1996), p. 321. Mr. Gimble has revised his definition to be consistent with this definition.

through August 2012. Thus, of the full \$2.2 billion in additions, only approximately
\$464 million, or 21 percent of the total, was for projected future interim additions.
Further, this projection was for only sixteen months, and was based on capital
investments the Company either already has made by this time or plans to make in the
near future.

Q. Instead of the term "interim additions," what term would you use to describe the projected activity through 2013?

A. The terms "forecast test year" or "future test year" are often used to describe this process. The future test year refers to forecast activity beyond the end of the study date. The term "historic test year" is used to refer to the last date of available historical data. For the RMP study, the historic test year is the end of 2011 and the future test year is the end of 2013. The use of a future test year is accepted for ratemaking in other jurisdictions, and reduces regulatory lag in the ratemaking process.

242 Q. Why is it important to understand this distinction?

- A. The main reason is because Mr. Pous cites sources from NARUC and from a FERC order related to interim additions as evidence that our proposal to use forecast data through 2013 is inappropriate. However, the NARUC citations Mr. Pous presents are related to a different concept. Based on my review of available information for the FERC Order he cites, the discussion in that Order may also be related to a different concept.
- 249 **Q.** Please explain these concepts further.

A. The NARUC passage cited on page 11 of Mr. Pous' testimony is describing a process

Page 12 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

251 of forecasting future interim additions for *every year* that a life span unit will be in 252 service. That is, the process described in NARUC is a forecast of additions far in the 253 future, beyond the implementation date of calculated depreciation rates. It is not 254 referring to the process employed by RMP in this case of estimating plant and reserve 255 activity for a limited period of time in order to calculate the most appropriate 256 depreciation rates at the date of implementation. Specifically, in the passage of 257 NARUC cited by Mr. Pous, NARUC describes a process of using interim additions in 258 which "it is possible to estimate the probable future retirements and additions to a 259 particular piece of property and thus arrive at a single depreciation rate applicable over the entire life of the property."¹⁰ This is not the process I have employed. The 260 261 additions forecast for the 2013 calculations are based on PacifiCorp's capital budget, 262 and thus they are for additions the Company is planning to make in the near future. 263 This is a very different process from estimating future additions for the entire life 264 spans of each plant. Additionally, the forecast of activity to 2013 will not result in "a 265 single depreciation rate applicable over the entire life of the property" as the process in NARUC describes. Instead, future additions to life span property beyond 2013 will 266 267 increase the depreciation rates in the future.

268 Q. What reason does NARUC give for not including all future interim additions?

A. NARUC claims that "this is an unsatisfactory practice inasmuch as considerable
 speculations would be required to make such an estimate on future additions."¹¹

¹⁰ Pous Direct Testimony, p. 11, lines 314-316.

¹¹ Pous Direct Testimony, p. 11, lines 316-318.

271 Given that PacifiCorp's proposal is a different practice altogether, NARUC's 272 concerns do not apply to PacifiCorp's depreciation study.

Does the activity projected to 2013 contain "considerable speculations?" 273 0.

274 A. No. As I have described, the first eight months are based on actual plant activity, and 275 the remainder of 2012 and all of 2013 are based on the capital budget. These are not 276 "considerable speculations", but are instead either actual spending or investments the 277 Company is planning to make in the near future.

278 Have you reviewed the FERC decision Mr. Pous presents in his testimony? 0.

I have reviewed the FERC opinion cited by Mr. Pous,¹² as well as the Administrative 279 A. Law Judge's ("ALJ") Decision in that case.¹³ Mr. Pous did not provide any other 280 281 information about the case, which is three decades old, so it is difficult to determine 282 the exact circumstances of FERC case cited by Mr. Pous. However, based on my 283 review of the ALJ's Decision, it seems possible that the proposal rejected by FERC 284 was in fact different from what PacifiCorp has proposed in this case. In fact, I would 285 interpret some of the language in the Decision to mean that FERC would actually 286 accept the process PacifiCorp has used in this case.

287 I should note that it is difficult to be certain of the exact facts and issues in 288 FERC case cited by Mr. Pous, as he has not provided any further information or 289 evidence that the proposal by Commonwealth Edison ("Edison") was in fact the same 290 proposal made by PacifiCorp in this case. However, as I will discuss, there is enough 291 information in the ALJ's Decision to doubt that the proposal in the FERC case was in

¹² FERC Opinion No. 165.¹³ 15 FERC P 63048.

fact the same as in this case. Further, as I will discuss in more detail, a FERC Order from 30 years ago does not preclude U.S. jurisdictions from adopting a future test year approach, as other states do currently use this approach.

295 **Q.** Please provide more information on this FERC proceeding.

296 Yes. The proposal recommended by Edison in Dockets No. ER79-182 and ER80-106 A. included estimated "future backfitting additions and future retirements,"¹⁴ which 297 represent the "budgeted future interim additions" to which Mr. Pous refers.¹⁵ FERC 298 299 Staff was one of the parties opposed to the inclusion of these future additions. The 300 ALJ's discussion of FERC Staff's position notes that Staff argued that the inclusion 301 of these additions "would circumvent the overall test period method of ratemaking by 302 adding future costs to forecast test year costs as long as they were budgeted for by the filing company"¹⁶ (emphasis added). From this discussion, it actually appears as if 303 304 FERC has accepted a "forecast test year" (i.e. a future test year), but the future 305 additions at issue were for spending that would occur beyond the future test year.

306 Q. Given this discussion, does the case cited by Mr. Pous appear to be related to the 307 same issue as for this case?

A. No, in my opinion it does not. Based on the passages cited above, the FERC case Mr.
Pous cites appears to actually be related to projected additions beyond a forecast test
period. This is not the issue in this case, in which additions have only been forecast to
the end of the test period, or the implementation date of the calculated depreciation

dates.

¹⁴ 15 FERC P 63048, p. 24.

¹⁵ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 12, lines 329-330.

¹⁶ 15 FERC P 63048, p. 25.

313 Q. Does any other discussion in the FERC case cited by Mr. Pous support your 314 interpretation?

315 Yes. The ALJ's Decision is based in large part on "the long-established principle that A. an item may be included in rate base only when it [is] 'used and useful."¹⁷ FERC 316 317 Order 165 also notes that the ALJ's Decision was "predicated on the used and useful concept."¹⁸ This concept does not apply to a future test year, which represents the 318 319 forecast of plant in service that will be used and useful at the implementation of rates. 320 In other words, the proposal by PacifiCorp to use a forecast 2013 test year does not 321 mean that customers will be paying for assets that are not used and useful at the time 322 the depreciation rates are implemented. Instead, the 2013 test year corresponds with 323 the implementation date, and thus represents the best estimate of assets that will be 324 used and useful at the time the depreciation rates are implemented. In contrast, the 325 proposal by Mr. Pous and others to use the depreciation rates calculated at 2011 will 326 be insufficient to equitably allocate the costs of assets that are used and useful at the 327 implementation date.

328 Q. Are depreciation rates based on a future test year used in other jurisdictions?

A. Yes. In Pennsylvania this is a widespread practice and all rate cases are based on a
projected future test year. The practice is also used in Florida, North Carolina and
Indiana.

¹⁷ 15 FERC P 63048, p. 27.

¹⁸ 23 FERC at paragraph 61,488.

Q. Please address Mr. Dunkel's comments in footnote 24 on page 19 of his
testimony related to his claim that you have not calculated depreciation rates
using projected activity for any studies performed within the past 16 months.

A. In the response to DPU_7-8, I had explained that in for some of the cases included in my response "depreciation rates or expense beyond the historic test year outside the study" was included in rate filings. While Mr. Dunkel claims that such a practice "is not similar to the 'Appendix' Mr. Spanos filed in this proceeding," he is incorrect. While he may not be familiar with the term, the use of a "future test year" is exactly the same approach as I have proposed in this study.

For example, DPU_7-8 lists two depreciation studies from Pennsylvania, one for Duquesne Light Company and one for PPL. Rate cases for both companies will include depreciation rates calculated using a future test year, just as has been done for RMP in this case.

Q. Regarding the calculation of depreciation rates based on a future test year, Mr.
Pous states that "it is hard to recall any instances of an equivalent request by
other United States utilities." Are you aware of Mr. Pous' involvement in any
cases in which a future test year was used?

A. Yes. Mr. Pous submitted testimony in Florida Power & Light Company's ("FPL") 2009 general rate case and depreciation study, Florida Docket Nos. 080677-EI and 090130-EI. The depreciation rates proposed and accepted in the FPL filing were based on a projected future test year of 2009, based on plant and reserve activity projected from the historic test year balances at year end 2007. In other words, the depreciation rates approved by the Florida Public Service Commission in that case

Page 17 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

355

356

were based on the same methodology as in this filing for RMP. Notably, Mr. Pous did not object to the practice in the FPL case.

357 Q. Please summarize your recommendation on this issue.

358 Α. Given the significant capital expenditures required for RMP by the time of the 359 implementation of the depreciation rates filed in this study, the inclusion of projected 360 activity is necessary to mitigate regulatory lag and to match the proper depreciation 361 rates to the time of the implementation of these rates. The projected additions 362 included in these calculations are not "considerable speculations", but are instead 363 based on actual and projected spending that the Company will need to incur in order 364 to continue the safe and reliable operation of its facilities. For the reasons set forth in 365 this testimony, the inclusion of these costs should be included in the calculation of 366 depreciation rates; otherwise, significant costs will be deferred to future customers.

367

III. THEORETICAL RESERVE IMBALANCE

368 Q. What is a theoretical reserve imbalance?

A. A theoretical reserve imbalance ("TRI," "reserve imbalance" or "imbalance") is calculated as the difference between a company's book accumulated depreciation, or book reserve, and the calculated accrued depreciation, or theoretical reserve. Mr. Dunkel refers to a situation in which the book reserve is greater than the theoretical reserve as a "reserve surplus" and a situation where the book reserve is less than the theoretical reserve as a "reserve deficiency." He also refers to a theoretical reserve imbalance as a "theoretical reserve variance."

376 **Q.** What is the book reserve?

377 A. The book reserve, also referred to as the "book accumulated depreciation" or the

Page 18 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

378 "accumulated provision for depreciation," is a running total of historical depreciation
379 activity. It is equal to the historical depreciation accruals, less retirements and cost of
380 removal, plus historical gross salvage. The book reserve also represents a reduction to
381 the original cost of plant when calculating rate base.

382

Q. What is the theoretical reserve?

A. The theoretical reserve is an estimate of the accumulated depreciation based on the
current plant balances and depreciation parameters (service life and net salvage
estimates) at a specific point in time.

386 Q. Is the theoretical reserve the "correct" reserve?

A. No, it is instead an estimate based on the current plant balances and current estimates of service life and net salvage. The theoretical reserve can be used to compare the actual book reserve to a theoretical benchmark, but it should not be thought of as what the reserve "should be."¹⁹ Depreciation is by nature an estimate of future events that will transpire decades into the future. To assume that the theoretical reserve is the correct reserve is to assume a precision of estimates that is not possible.

393 Q. Is a theoretical reserve imbalance a common occurrence?

A. Yes, it is. The theoretical reserve is a simplified model of a company's reserve position, based only on the current plant balances, service life estimates and net salvage estimates. The Company's book reserve is instead the cumulative history of all reserve activity, including retirements, gross salvage, cost of removal, adjustments, and the historical annual depreciation accruals approved by the

¹⁹ Mr. Dunkel uses the phrase "should be" on, p. 9, footnote 6 of his direct testimony.

Commission. Given the simplification inherent in the theoretical reserve model, it iscommon for the theoretical reserve to differ from the book reserve.

401 Q. If a theoretical reserve imbalance exists, does a company normally take action to 402 adjust the book reserve?

403 No, in most jurisdictions an explicit adjustment to the book reserve is not necessary. A. 404 In the majority of jurisdictions, including for RMP in Utah, the remaining life 405 technique is used. Using the remaining life technique, the unrecovered costs (or 406 "future accruals") are depreciated over the remaining life for each depreciable group. 407 Based on this process, when using remaining life technique there is an automatic 408 adjustment, or self-correcting mechanism, that will increase or decrease depreciation 409 expense to account for any imbalances between the book and theoretical reserves. 410 Thus, the depreciation rates presented in the depreciation study already include an 411 adjustment for the theoretical reserve imbalance. No further adjustment is needed.

412 Q. Do authoritative depreciation texts provide guidance regarding theoretical 413 reserve imbalances?

414 A. Yes. Mr. Townsend paraphrases the discussion of theoretical reserve imbalances in 415 the NARUC's publication *Public Utility Depreciation Practices* (the "NARUC 416 Manual"). Mr. Townsend is correct that NARUC notes that "the use of an annual 417 amortization over a short period of time or the setting of depreciation rates using the 418 remaining life technique are two of the most common options for eliminating the 419 imbalance."²⁰ However, since RMP already uses the remaining life technique, this 420 passage offers no justification for changing from RMP's longstanding practice of

²⁰ NARUC, p. 189.

Page 20 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

- using the remaining life technique, which renders a specific amortization over a short
 period of time unnecessary. As I will discuss, other guidance in the NARUC Manual
 suggests that such an adjustment should only be made in unique circumstances for
 companies that use the remaining life technique.
- While Mr. Townsend suggests that the "decision as to whether and how to correct the reserve imbalance is subjective,"²¹ additional discussion in the NARUC Manual is not supportive of using a different period of time in the case of RMP. In the same section quoted by Mr. Townsend, NARUC is clear that an explicit adjustment requires both materiality and a specific knowledge of factors that have led to a
- 430 theoretical reserve imbalance. NARUC states:
- "When a depreciation reserve imbalance exists, one should investigate 431 432 why past depreciation rates, average service lives, salvage, or cost of removal amounts differ from the current estimates. Care should be 433 taken to analyze these effects before correcting for the reserve 434 435 imbalances. Instances occur where subsequent experience shows the original estimates no longer to be appropriate. It should be noted that 436 only after plant has lives its entire useful life will the true depreciation 437 438 parameters become known. Recognizing the nature of depreciation and 439 its requirement for future estimations, no adjustment in annual 440 depreciation accruals to reflect a reserve requirement, based on current rates, should be made unless there is a clear indication that the 441 theoretical reserve is materially different from the book reserve."22 442
- 443 (Emphasis added)

444 **Q.** Is there a clear indication that the theoretical reserve is materially different from

- 445 **the book reserve?**
- A. No. While both Mr. Townsend and Mr. Dunkel cite reserve imbalances in the 10's or
- 447 100's of millions of dollars, these amounts are large only due to the size of

²¹ Direct Testimony of Mr. Neal Townsend, p. 4, lines 75-76.

²² NARUC Manual, p. 189.

448 PacifiCorp's investment base. When put into context – that is when compared to the 449 size of the investment balances as well as the uncertainty inherent in future estimates 450 - the reserve imbalances are not material. For steam plant, for example, which is the 451 main focus for both Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Townsend, the theoretical reserve imbalance 452 of approximately \$48 million represents only two percent of the total theoretical reserve²³. For all of production plant the theoretical reserve imbalance is less than one 453 454 percent of the theoretical reserve. These represent very minor differences when put in 455 perspective, and offer no justification for any deviation from the remaining life 456 technique.

Further, as I will discuss in more detail below, if in the future more information becomes available and results in a change in estimate, these "reserve surpluses" could very easily become "reserve deficits." This provides additional justification to not amortize any reserve imbalances over a shorter period of time and to continue to use the remaining life technique.

462 Q. Do Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Townsend explain why they believe the theoretical 463 reserve imbalance is material enough to require an explicit adjustment?

A. No. It is indeed surprising that Mr. Dunkel considers these amounts material, given
that he claims that a \$1.8 billion change in plant investment is "relatively small."²⁴
Indeed, as discussed in the previous section, Mr. Dunkel has opposed the \$75.6
million impact of properly reflecting future test year balances in depreciation
calculations. This \$75.6 million of *annual* expense is in fact more than twice as large

²³ Even excluding Carbon, the reserve for Steam is less than 5% of the theoretical reserve.

²⁴ Dunkel, p. 21, lines 327-328

as the entire theoretical reserve imbalance for production plant. Given these other
discussions in his testimony, it would be inconsistent for Mr. Dunkel to consider the
reserve imbalance amounts to be material.

472 Mr. Townsend indicated in the response to discovery²⁵ that he does believe 473 the theoretical reserve imbalance is material. He provided no support for this opinion, 474 other than to state that he considered "the relevant factors as identified in the NARUC 475 Paper." As I have explained in detail, there is no evidence that the imbalance is 476 material, and further an explicit adjustment is not necessary since the remaining life 477 technique is used.

I should also clarify other statements Mr. Townsend makes in this data response. He states that "PacifiCorp must also consider this imbalance material, given that it has proposed adjustments using the remaining life technique." This is incorrect. I do not believe the imbalance to be material. Further, Mr. Townsend's interpretation of NARUC is incorrect, as additional discussion in NARUC explains that the use of the remaining life technique does not require a determination of materiality.

484 Q. What additional discussion on the use of the remaining life technique does 485 NARUC provide?

A. In its discussion of the remaining life technique, NARUC also notes that "the
desirability of using the remaining life technique is that any necessary adjustments of
depreciation reserves, because of changes to the estimates of life and net salvage, are
accrued automatically over the remaining life of the property. Once commenced,
adjustments to the depreciation reserve, outside of those inherent in the remaining life

²⁵ UAE response to RMP 1.3.

Page 23 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

- rate would require regulatory approval."²⁶ In other words, for companies that have the
 longstanding practice of using the remaining life technique, such as RMP, a
 determination of materiality is unnecessary. Additionally, not only is an additional
 adjustment to the reserve unnecessary, but one should only be made in unique enough
 circumstances to require special regulatory approval. The situation for RMP does not
 meet this requirement.
- 497 Q. Do other authoritative depreciation texts provide further guidance on the
 498 theoretical reserve imbalance?
- 499 A. Yes. Wolf and Fitch's *Depreciation Systems* is another highly regarded depreciation
- 500 text. Wolf and Fitch explain that:
- 501"The CAD [theoretical reserve] is not a precise measurement. It is based on a502model that only approximates the complex chain of events that occur in an503actual property group and depends upon forecasts of future life and salvage.504Thus, it serves as a guide to, not a prescription for, adjustments to the505accumulated provision for depreciation."
- 506 In other words, the theoretical reserve is an estimate, not a precise calculation of what
- 507 the reserve "should be." Given the small percentage differences between PacifiCorp's
- 508 book reserve and theoretical reserve, there is no reason to use a separate amortization.
- 509 Such a recommendation suggests a degree of precision that the theoretical reserve

510 does not provide.

- 511 Q. Is an amortization over a fixed period normally used in jurisdictions that use the
 512 remaining life technique?
- 513 A. No. Consistent with the NARUC discussion outlined above, for jurisdictions that use
- 514 the remaining life technique it is rare to have an additional amortization of the

²⁶ NARUC, p. 65.

Page 24 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

515 theoretical reserve imbalance. Generally, the use of a separate amortization only 516 occurs when a large unit of property (such as a power plant) is retired before the full 517 service value can be recovered. Since in such a situation the costs cannot be 518 practically recovered over the remaining life, a different period is used.²⁷

519 Q. Mr. Dunkel provides an analogy of a doctor's bill to explain the treatment of a
520 theoretical reserve imbalance. Do you agree with this analogy?

521 No, this is not an accurate analogy for the issue at hand. Mr. Dunkel provides an A. 522 example of a doctor's bill for which the customer needs to settle due to an underpayment (or overpayment).²⁸ However, there is a very important distinction 523 524 between the situation Mr. Dunkel presents and that of a theoretical reserve imbalance. Specifically, in the example Mr. Dunkel provides, the amount of the overpayment is 525 526 precisely known. This is not true for a theoretical reserve imbalance, which is instead 527 based on an estimate of the future. The NARUC Manual is clear in its explanation 528 that "only after plant has lived its entire useful life will the true depreciation parameters become known."29 In Mr. Dunkel's example, the "life" of the doctor's 529 530 service has already ended, and the true costs are known. For depreciation estimates, 531 and the theoretical reserve, the task is to estimate the time at which future retirements 532 occur. This is very different from Mr. Dunkel's analogy.

533Additionally, the doctor's bill is a one-time service to be settled between two534parties - the doctor and the patient. Considerations for depreciation such as the timing

²⁷ This is in fact the situation with Carbon. It should be emphasized that the five year period agreed to in settlement for Carbon represents the period *after* the plant is retired. Thus, the amortization period used is in fact *longer* than the remaining life.

²⁸ Direct Testimony of Mr. Dunkel, p. 9, lines 130-133.

²⁹ NARUC, p. 189.

535 of recovery, rate base impacts, and intergenerational equity do not affect the 536 transaction in Mr. Dunkel's analogy.

537 Q. Mr. Dunkel states that the remaining life technique is used "in part because it 538 does not require the parties to specifically select a specific amortization 539 period."³⁰ Do you agree?

A. No. The remaining life technique is used for a number of important reasons, and the convenience of not having to go through the trouble of selecting a specific period is not the primary concern. Most important is that the remaining life technique matches cost recovery of assets to the consumption of these assets. It makes little sense to amortize the reserve imbalances of short-lived assets over the same period of time as long-lived assets³¹. Instead, the period of time the assets will remain in service is the most reasonable period of time.

The use of a fixed period as proposed by Mr. Dunkel will not match costs with consumption. It will instead accelerate or decelerate recovery, and will not result in an even recovery over the remaining lives of assets in service. I should also note that that Mr. Dunkel's implication that the remaining life technique does not require the selection of a "specific" period is technically incorrect. Using the remaining life technique, the remaining life of each property group is specifically selected for the recovery of the unrecovered service value of the group of assets. It is also the more

³⁰ Dunkel, p. 14, lines 184-186.

³¹ Mr. Dunkel is in effect doing exactly this, proposing to amortize the reserve imbalance for Carbon, which will only be in service until 2015, over the same period as the Company's other coal plants, which are estimated to be in service for as much as thirty more years.

precise and equitable selection, as the "selected" period is the time that the assets willremain in service.

556 Q. Are there any other reasons the remaining life is preferable to a specific 557 amortization?

558 A. Yes. The remaining life technique establishes a consistent methodology in which all 559 depreciable groups are treated in a consistent manner. It therefore prevents parties 560 from creating an inequitable amortization period in order to achieve a desired result.

561 Q. Why does Mr. Dunkel propose to amortize the reserve imbalances over a period 562 other than the remaining life?

A. Similar to Mr. Townsend, Mr. Dunkel's primary justification for his proposal is based on the situation in steam production where there is a reserve deficiency for Carbon, which will only be in service until the end of 2015, and a reserve excess for the remaining plants, which will be in service longer than Carbon. Mr. Dunkel argues that the remaining life technique produces an "improper result"³² because the remaining life is shorter for Carbon than for the other plants.

569 Q. Does the use of the remaining life technique produce an improper result?

A. No. For each plant, any unrecovered costs are recovered over the remaining lives of
the assets at the plant, and as a result costs are most equitably matched to the
consumption of the assets. The fact is that Carbon, which has a reserve deficiency,
will be retired in a short period of time. The only proper result is therefore to recover
these costs over a short period of time.

³² Dunkel, p. 14, lines 187-188.

575

Q. Why does the carbon plant have a theoretical reserve imbalance?

A. The Carbon plant has a theoretical reserve imbalance for two related reasons. First,
the plant will be retired sooner than was anticipated in prior depreciation studies.
Second, the cost to decommission the plant will be higher than anticipated in prior
depreciation studies.

580 Q. Is there a possibility that the same factors that led to a reserve imbalance at 581 carbon could also lead to reserve imbalances at the company's other steam 582 plants?

583 A. Yes. There is a very real risk that the Company's coal-fired plants in particular could 584 be retired sooner than is presented in the depreciation study. For example, federal 585 greenhouse gas legislation would likely result in the retirement of coal-fired units 586 earlier than shown in this study. The result of such legislation would be that any 587 theoretical "reserve surpluses" calculated in this proceeding would immediately 588 become real-life reserve deficiencies for plants that would retire early. Were Mr. 589 Dunkel's proposal accepted and the "reserve surplus" for each plant were amortized 590 over a short period of time, this would only exacerbate any actual reserve deficiencies 591 that would occur.

592 Q. Will any of the proposals made by Mr. Dunkel result in reserve deficiencies?

A. Yes. I have discussed previously how the use of depreciation rates calculated at 2011
for 2013 plant will be too low. Mr. Dunkel is proposing to use the 2011 depreciation
rates. Since these rates will be too low at the time they are implemented, their use will
result in reserve deficiencies for the Company's generating plants. This concept

Page 28 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

should also be a reminder that the reserve imbalance is not a precise number, but willbe affected by future experience.

599 Q. Are there also reasons that the "reserve surpluses" in transmission and600 distribution plant could be overstated?

- A. Yes. As I will discuss in the section on mass property net salvage, the net salvage estimates for these functions of plant are actually very conservative when compared to the Company's historical experience. If removal costs continue at the levels experienced in recent years, the net salvage estimates in this study could prove to be too low (i.e. not negative enough). In such a case the currently estimated "reserve surplus" could actually prove to be a "reserve deficiency."
- 607 Q. Please summarize your recommendation related to the theoretical reserve
 608 imbalance.
- A. The theoretical reserve imbalance for PacifiCorp's assets is not material in a manner
 that warrants a departure from the longstanding use of the remaining life technique.
 As I have explained, Mr. Dunkel's and Mr. Townsend's criticisms are unfounded and
 often based on a lack of understanding of the issue. I recommend the continued use of
 the remaining life technique.
- 614

IV. PRODUCTION PLANT NET SALVAGE

- 615 Q. What is the basis of the company's terminal net salvage estimates for production
 616 plant?
- A. With the exception of the Carbon Plant, which Mr. Andrews will address in detail, the
 Company's estimates are the same as those stipulated in the Company's previous
 depreciation study of \$40/kW for Steam Production Plant, \$20/kW for Other

Page 29 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

- 620 Production Plant gas plants and \$9/kW for Wind Plants. The Company provided
- evidence supporting these estimates in the prior study, as well as additional
 information in discovery³³ in this proceeding.

623 Q. What are Mr. Pous' terminal net salvage estimates for production plant?

A. Mr. Pous has proposed \$30/kW for all steam plants, \$8/kW for other production gas
plants and \$5/kW for wind plants.

626 Q. How does Mr. Pous' discussion of Nevada power impact his analysis?

A. Mr. Pous devotes a considerable amount of time discussing a decommissioning study
performed for Nevada Power by Black and Veatch. Much of this discussion is
focused on the Carbon Plant, which Mr. Andrews addresses in his rebuttal testimony.
However, Mr. Pous' recommendation for other production gas plants is based entirely
on an outdated estimate for Nevada Power based on revisions to this Black and
Veatch study.

633 Q. Are nevada power's currently approved decommissioning estimates based on the 634 Black and Veatch study Mr. Pous discusses?

A. No. In the most recently concluded depreciation case for Nevada Power, Nevada
Docket No. 11-06007, the Nevada Commission approved different decommissioning
estimates than those discussed by Mr. Pous. These estimates were based on more
recent decommissioning studies performed by URS and Sargent and Lundy, which
were in turn modified by the Nevada Commission in its Order. Given that his
references to Nevada Power are out of date, much of Mr. Pous' support for his
estimates, especially for other production gas plants, is incorrect.

³³ Response to DPU.

Page 30 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

642 Q. Do you agree with Mr. Pous' presentation regarding Nevada Power?

A. No. Much of his presentation is either incorrect or misleading. Due to many of the
statements he makes in his discussion of Nevada Power, Mr. Pous was asked in
discovery to provide the "\$/kW estimates currently approved by the Nevada
Commission for each of Nevada Power's power plants." Mr. Pous' response only
referred to an earlier data request response that OCS provided to DPU that contained
selected pages from the testimony of Nevada Staff witness Mr. Paul Maguire filed in
Docket No. 11-06007.

650 Q. Do any of these pages contain the approved decommissioning estimates for 651 Nevada Power?

- No. While there is a page in this response that shows a decommissioning estimate of 652 A. 653 \$8/kW for combined cycle plants, this page does not represent the approved estimate, 654 or even the estimate proposed by Mr. Maguire in Docket No. 11-06007. It is instead 655 from a schedule showing estimates from the revised Black and Veatch study. 656 However, these estimates were no longer being used. Had Mr. Pous been less selective in his presentation he would have included the pages of Mr. Maguire's 657 658 testimony that showed Mr. Maguire's estimated decommissioning costs to be 659 different from \$8/kW for combined cycle plants.
- 660 Q. Does the information provided by Mr. Pous include the actual approved
 661 decommissioning estimates for Nevada Power?
- 662 A. No.
- 663 Q. What are the approved decommissioning estimates for Nevada Power?
- A. I have presented the approved decommissioning estimates in a \$/kW basis for each of

Page 31 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

665 Nevada Power's plants in Table 1 below. For the combined cycle plants, the estimates range from \$8.6 / kW to \$20.5 /kW (and to \$69.3 \$/kW if the older Clark plant is 666 included). Contrary to Mr. Pous' presentation in his testimony and discovery, the 667 668 actual approved Nevada Power estimates do not support a change from the \$20/kW estimate currently approved for PacifiCorp. The Nevada Power estimates most 669 670 certainly do not provide support for Mr. Pous' significant reduction in 671 decommissioning costs to \$8/kW, as the estimate for each combined cycle plant is 672 greater than \$8/kW.

Table 1: Approved Decommissioning Estimates for Nevada Power Company

			<u>Plant</u>		<u>Cost/kW</u>	
			Steam Prod	uction Plants	i	
			Clark		69.3	
			Reid Gardne	r 1-3	90.4	
			Reid Gardne	r 4	91.7	
			Sunrise 1		33.7	
			Navajo		41.4	
			Combined C	Cycle Plants		
			Clark 5-8		69.3	
			Harry Allen 5	5, 6, 7	18.3	
			Higgins		20.5	
			Lenzie		11.9	
			Silverhawk		8.6	
			Other Plants	5		
			Clark 4		5.1	
			Clark 11 to 2	2	6.9	
			Goodsprings		107.3	
			Harry Allen 3	8, 4	14.2	
			Sunrise 2		33.7	
Has	the	company	provided	additional	information	on

decommissioning

674 estimates for other utilities?

673

Q.

675 A. Yes. The Company provided a number of \$/kW estimates for other utilities'

Page 32 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

676 combined cycle plants in the previous depreciation study. The Company also 677 supplemented this information with additional \$/kW estimates in this study. The 678 estimates provided in the previous study for other utilities' combined cycle plants 679 range from \$13.1 to \$95.9 per kW, with an average of \$22.3 per kW. The estimates for other utilities' provided in this study in the response to DPU 3.10 range from 680 681 around \$6 per kW to around \$115 per kW (most range from \$13 to \$38 per kW), with 682 an average of \$20.5 per kW. The information provided for these plants supports the 683 Company's estimate of \$20 per kW.

684 Q. Do the Nevada Power estimates support PacifiCorp's estimates for steam 685 production plants?

A. Yes. The estimates shown in Table 1 for coal plants range from \$41.4/kW to
\$91.7/kW, and are all higher than the Company's estimate in this proceeding and
much higher than Mr. Pous' estimates. The Sunrise plant, which is not a coal unit, has
an estimate of \$33.7 / kW, which is also higher than Mr. Pous' estimate.

690 Q. What is the basis for Mr. Pous estimate for steam production plant?

691 As he describes on page 33 of his testimony, Mr. Pous' estimate is based on an A. 692 assumption the Company may not decommission its plants, but instead that there is a 693 one percent probability that the Company could sell its plants at the end of their lives 694 and a 10 percent probability that the Company will have positive net salvage, which 695 Mr. Pous incorrectly claims is what occurred with the Company's Hale plant. By 696 weighing these probabilities with his assumed probability of decommissioning 697 occurring at the Company's estimate of \$40/kW, Mr. Pous arrives at an estimate of 698 \$30/kW.

699		I will explain why Mr. Pous was incorrect about the Company's Hale Plant,
700		and that the actual outcome was similar in today's dollars to the Company's \$40/kW
701		estimate. Mr. Andrews will explain why a sale similar to Centralia - which occurred
702		when Centralia was close to 30 years old - will not occur at the end of PacifiCorp's
703		plants' lives when these plants are close to 60 years old. Thus, Mr. Pous' calculated
704		weighting, properly applied, still results in the \$40/kW estimate in the depreciation
705		study.
706	Q.	Why does Mr. Pous claim that there was positive net salvage for the Hale plant?
707	A.	He makes this claim because the Company was able to sell the land for the Hale plant
708		for approximately \$3.2 million.
709	Q.	Is land depreciable property?
710	A.	No, land is non-depreciable. Any proceeds from the sale of land should therefore not
711		affect the net salvage estimates for depreciable property.
712	Q.	Why does Mr. Pous believe that the sale of land should be considered sales
713		proceeds for depreciable property?
714	A.	Mr. Pous makes little justification for this unconventional claim, other than to state in
715		a footnote that:
716 717 718 719 720		While the Company incurred cost of removal to improve the site, land, it booked the sale of land to an account not associated with the depreciation reserve. If cost of removal for depreciable plant is incurred to increase the sale value of the land, then sale proceeds should be considered as an offset to demolition costs. ³⁴
721	Q.	Is Mr. Pous' statement correct?
722	A.	No. First, his characterization that the Company incurred a cost to "improve the site"

³⁴ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 29, footnote 33.

is incorrect. The Company incurred costs to clean up the site and restore due to the
operation of depreciable assets for a power plant operating on the site. These were not
improvements to the site, but costs incurred to return the site to a condition closer to
its original condition. These costs were related to the depreciable property on the site,
not to the land itself.

- Q. Mr. Pous notes that the company recorded the sale of land to an account "not
 associated with the depreciation reserve." Was this the correct accounting
 treatment?
- A. Yes. The FERC Uniform System of Accounts is clear that the proceeds for the sale of
 land should not be recorded to Account 108 Accumulated provision for depreciation
 of electric utility plant. The Company was correct to record the sales proceeds in this
 way. Additionally, nowhere does FERC state that cost of removal should be offset by
 the sale of land.

736 Q. Should the proceeds for the sale of land be included in depreciation rates?

A. No. Land is not a depreciable account. The Company has other ratemaking
mechanisms for which the proceeds from the sale of land accrue to ratepayers.

739 Q. If the sale of the land is properly excluded, do the decommissioning costs for
740 Hale support the company's estimate?

- A. Yes. As I have noted previously, additional information provided in this and previous
 studies also supports the Company's estimate.
- 743 Q. What do you recommend regarding the company's terminal net salvage744 estimates?
- A. Based on the discussion above as well as Mr. Andrews' testimony, Mr. Pous' claims
are incorrect and not supported. The Company's estimates, approved in thestipulation from the most recent depreciation study, are most appropriate.

748

V. PRODUCTION PLANT INTERIM SURVIVOR CURVES

749 Q. Please explain the method you proposed for depreciation of production plant 750 accounts.

A. In RMP's depreciation study I have proposed to use the life span technique for each of the Company's generating units. The life span technique is appropriate for accounts in which large groups of property will be retired at once. Power plants are a textbook example of this type of property, as all of the assets associated with a generating unit - such as structures, turbines, generators and other electrical equipment - will be retired when the unit is taken out of service.

Life span property experiences two types of retirements – final retirements and interim retirements. Final retirements are those that occur when the entire unit is taken out of service. Interim retirements, on the other hand, are retirements of components that occur before the final retirement date for the entire unit. To properly calculate the depreciation for each generating unit, one must estimate both the date of final retirement and the level of interim retirements that will occur before that date.

763 Q. Does Mr. Pous agree that the life span method should be employed for power764 plants?

A. Yes. But while he agrees that depreciation for generating units should account forinterim retirements, he proposes a different method for doing so.

Page 36 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

- 767 Q. Please explain the difference between your proposed method for accounting for
 768 interim retirements and the method proposed by Mr. Pous.
- 769 In the depreciation study, I have utilized the proposed retirement date for each Α. 770 generating unit. In addition, I have estimated an Iowa type survivor curve for each 771 production plant account that takes into account the fact that some of the property at 772 these plants will be retired before the final date of retirement. Mr. Pous also proposes 773 using the life span technique and adjusting for interim retirements. However, instead 774 of using an Iowa curve with a distinct retirement dispersion pattern that matches the 775 type of property in each plant account, he estimates an "interim retirement ratio" and 776 adjusts the remaining life for each generating unit within each plant account based on 777 this interim retirement rate.

778 Q. How is this method different from using an interim survivor curve?

A. Although he claims there is a difference, Mr. Pous actually employs the same basic
method as I do – that is, he selects a curve that represents interim retirement activity
for each account. The basis for his selection is instead a less precise analysis of
annual retirements. Thus, despite his concerns that my methodology "relies on
actuarial analysis of historical data,"³⁵ Mr. Pous' estimate is in fact based on analyses
of the same data.

As I will explain, his method is simply an approximation of the more precise method I have employed. By using a constant interim retirement ratio to adjust for interim retirements for each production plant account, Mr. Pous has still selected an interim survivor curve to forecast interim retirements. However, instead of selecting a

³⁵ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 21, line 609.

Page 37 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

curve with variable retirement dispersion, such as the Iowa R, L or S type curves that the Company has proposed; Mr. Pous has instead chosen a curve that assumes a constant level of interim retirements each year. As I will explain, it is an unrealistic assumption. I will also demonstrate that in the case of PacifiCorp's power plants, his methodology is not only an approximation, but it is a poor approximation and significantly understates PacifiCorp's interim retirements.

- Q. On pages 21 through 24 of his direct testimony, Mr. Pous discusses concerns
 with your method of accounting for interim retirements for RMP's generating
 units. Are these concerns valid?
- 798 A. No.
- 799 Q. Mr. Pous refers to the estimation of interim retirements as a "fine tuning
 800 adjustment" to the life span method. Do you agree with this characterization?
- A. No. The estimate of interim retirements is simply the estimate of the interim retirements that will occur before the final retirement of life span property, and there is no specification of the size of such retirements. The amount of interim retirements can be a large percentage of the total retirements or a small percentage. All that matters for retirements to be considered interim retirements is that they occur prior to the final retirement.
- 807 Q. What are Mr. Pous concerns with your method?

Mr. Pous' main criticism of my approach is that the use of actuarial analysis for
 interim retirements is inappropriate, stating that "actuarial analyses are normally
 performed on more homogeneous types of investments that are not generally

Page 38 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

811 dependent on one another, such as poles and wires."³⁶ As I will show, this criticism is 812 unfounded. Not only is my methodology widely accepted in the utility industry and 813 supported by authoritative depreciation texts, but the source that Mr. Pous has in the 814 past claimed to sponsor his approach specifically states that my methodology is more 815 accurate.

816 Mr. Pous also argues that my estimates overstate interim retirement activity. 817 As I will demonstrate, his arguments to this effect are flawed, and in fact his 818 estimates significantly understate the interim retirement activity the Company is 819 experiencing.

820 Q. Do you agree with Mr. Pous' assertion that actuarial analysis is not appropriate 821 for production plant accounts?

A. No. The use of Iowa curves for interim retirements for this type of property has been
widely accepted in the U.S. and Canada and is supported by authoritative depreciation
texts. It has also been accepted in prior proceedings by this Commission.

825 Q. Does Mr. Pous cite any sources that recognize his methodology for interim 826 retirements?

A. Yes, Mr. Pous has cited NARUC's *Public Utility Depreciation* Practices. As I will discuss, this text also supports the methodology I have used. Additionally, in other proceedings in which both Mr. Pous and Gannett Fleming have testified he has presented an additional source that recognizes his methodology. He has testified previously that the California Public Utilities Commission's publication *Determination of Straight-Line Remaining Life Depreciation Accruals Standard*

³⁶ Direct Testimony of Jacob Pous, p. 21, lines 610-612.

Page 39 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

- 833 *Practice U-4* ("Standard Practice U-4") "sponsored" his methodology.³⁷ As I will 834 show, not only does Standard Practice U-4 support my methodology, but it is clear 835 that my methodology is more accurate than that of Mr. Pous.
- 836 Q. Do you agree with Mr. Pous that both of these texts are authoritative
 837 depreciation texts?
- 838 A. Yes.
- 839 Q. Do either of these sources support Mr. Pous' contention that your method is
 840 inappropriate for life span property?
- A. No. In fact, the opposite is true. The Standard Practice U-4 source that Mr. Pous has
- 842 claimed "sponsors" his approach makes it clear that my method is superior. The
- 843 method Mr. Pous employs is presented on page 28 of this text. The actual passage
- reads as follows (for brevity the description of the calculations has been excluded):
- 845 To the remaining span a small correction is applied for so-called 'interim retirements' of smaller units comprising part of the major unit. 846 Interim retirements and additions include such items as changes within a 847 building or changes at an electrical generating station not altering the 848 849 basic structures, etc. As an approximation the assumption can be made that future annual interim retirements will occur at a consistent ratio to 850 the present plant balance...In more accurate applications, this correction 851 may be developed from an actuarial analysis of mortality data for the 852 interim retirements. (Emphasis added). 853
- Thus, the source that Mr. Pous has claimed "sponsors" his methodology clearly states not only that his method is an "approximation," but the method I have proposed to develop interim survivor curves (i.e. from actuarial analysis of interim retirements) is "more accurate." In 1961, when Standard Practice U-4 was written, there may have

³⁷ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous in Nevada Docket 10-06003, p. 42; and Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous in Florida Docket 090130-EI, p. 65.

been a need to rely on an approximation that was simpler from a computational standpoint. While Mr. Pous claims that the use of interim survivor curves is "cumbersome,"³⁸ he is incorrect. Today, with the help of computer software such computational considerations are not an issue. Accordingly, we should not sacrifice the improved accuracy of my method for the sake of Mr. Pous' convenience. Mr. Pous' proposal is akin to saying that we should use slide rules instead of computers because that is what was used fifty years ago.

865 Q. Does NARUC's "public utility depreciation practices" recognize your method?

A. Yes, it does. My method is also recognized by NARUC in its publication *Public Utility Depreciation Practices*. According to NARUC, developing an observed life
table from historical data, which "can be fitted to generalize life curves, e.g., Iowa
curves or curves based on the Gompertz-Makeham formula," and using the fitted
curve to account for interim retirements is appropriate for life span property. This is
precisely the method I have employed.

872 Q. Has your methodology been used in other depreciation studies?

A. Yes. My company uses this method for life span property in all of our studies for
these types of asset classes. We have used it in numerous jurisdictions across the
United States and Canada. This methodology has also been accepted by this
Commission for structures and improvements for Questar Gas Company.

³⁸ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 21, line 605.

877 Q. Are you aware of any commissions that have rejected your approach to using
878 interim survivor curves?

No. In one case in Florida³⁹, the final decision utilized Mr. Pous' methodology 879 Α. 880 instead of mine. However, the Commission did not reject the use of interim survivor 881 curves, and was clear that the use of interim survivor curves is in fact an acceptable 882 method. The Florida Public Service Commission ("FPSC") specifically noted "that 883 both FPL's [my] method and OPC's [Mr. Pous'] method are industry accepted 884 practices." In other words, the FPSC opted to use a different method for its own depreciation calculations for reasons that were not articulated in the Order. Further, 885 886 the FPSC specifically stated that it "agrees with FPL's [my] criticism that OPC's [Mr. 887 Pous'] use of a constant retirement rate assumes that retirements in the future will mirror those of the past."⁴⁰ 888

889 Q. Has Mr. Pous challenged Gannett Fleming's methodology for interim 890 retirements in any other jurisdictions?

A. Yes. Mr. Pous made a similar challenge to this methodology in Nevada, in testimony
for the 2004 rate proceeding of Sierra Pacific Power Company (Docket No. 0510004). The Commission agreed with Gannett Fleming in that case and specifically
agreed with Gannett's industry-established method of calculating interim retirements
in its Order for Dockets No. 05-10003 & 05-10004. Specifically, the Order states:
"The Commission is convinced that Sierra's [my] proposed methodology

897for calculating interim retirements is adequate and widely accepted in the898industry. The Commission accepts Sierra's approach to calculating interim

³⁹ Florida Docket 090130-EI.

⁴⁰ Florida Public Service Commission Order, Docket Nos. 080677-EI and 090130-EI, p. 31.

retirements."41

899

- Gannett Fleming has also proposed the same approach for interim retirements in the
 vast majority of depreciation studies for which there are life span accounts. To the
 best of my knowledge, this approach has been accepted in each of these cases.
- 903 Q. You have stated that Mr. Pous' method is "an approximation" and "less
 904 precise." As a result of being less precise, does Mr. Pous' method result in
 905 inappropriate results in this case?
- 906 Yes. Mr. Pous' method involves comparing the annual levels of retirements to the A. 907 annual plant balances for each year in his analysis. As a result, this analysis compares 908 annual retirements to a mix of balances of many different ages. In contrast, the 909 actuarial analysis I have used is more accurate because it segregates the investment 910 by age and compares the retirements that occur at each age to the actual balances of 911 plant that have survived to each age. Because Mr. Pous' analysis does not distinguish 912 between the investment that has survived to different ages of plant, his analysis can 913 lead to inappropriate results and understate retirements if the Company has added 914 many new assets (for which there will be fewer retirements in the current period).

This has in fact happened in Mr. Pous' analysis for this proceeding. The Company has made significant investments in its steam plant. For example, for Account 312, the Company has added almost \$1.7 billion in investment since 2006. Thus, approximately 43 percent of the investment in this account is less than six years old at the time of the study. Yet Mr. Pous' analysis compares the retirements that have happened in recent years to the total balance, including these significant new

⁴¹ Nevada Public Utilities Commission Order, Docket Nos. 05-10003 & 05-10004. P. 85.

921 additions. This represents a substantial mismatch in his analysis, and results in922 estimates of interim retirements that are far too low.

923 Q. On page 21 of his testimony, Mr. Pous argues that because the property in
924 production plant accounts is not homogeneous, using an interim survivor curve
925 to estimate interim retirements is inappropriate. Is this concern valid?

A. No, Mr. Pous is incorrect. Property in these accounts is grouped according to the
Uniform System of Accounts, just as is the case for transmission, distribution and
general plant property. Mr. Pous has not objected to Iowa survivor curves for plant
accounts in these functions, despite the fact that some Transmission and Distribution
plant accounts, such as Accounts 353 and 362 - Station Equipment, also do not
include homogenous-type investments.

As I have discussed above, Mr. Pous' methodology does not properly consider the ages of assets in service, and as a result will understate interim retirements. Actuarial analysis does not include this same flaw, and thus produces better results. It is therefore more appropriate than the "approximation" proposed by Mr. Pous.

936 It is also important to recognize that the actuarial life analysis I have used for 937 interim survivor curves is only related to interim retirements. Final retirements are 938 instead based on estimates of the retirement date for an entire generating unit. Since 939 not all assets are retired as interim retirements, the assets in production plant accounts 940 subject to interim retirements are actually more homogeneous than Mr. Pous' 941 testimony implies. Instead, Mr. Pous' example on page 21 of his direct testimony 942 comparing electric motors or pumps with smoke stacks is misleading. While the 943 motors and pumps may be replaced as interim retirements, the smoke stack may

Page 44 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

944 instead be retired concurrent with the retirement of the entire unit (i.e. as a final
945 retirement). The interim survivor curves proposed in the depreciation study are
946 estimates of only *interim* retirements, and have been developed based only on the
947 actuarial study of *interim* retirements (incorporating informed judgment based on
948 other factors as well). Actuarial techniques have not been used for final retirements,
949 and as a result Mr. Pous' example is not representative of the methodology I have
950 employed.

951 Q. Please provide an example to illustrate the difference between Mr. Pous' 952 proposal and the company's proposal.

A. The difference is perhaps best illustrated by the same analogy Mr. Pous uses for life span property, that of a car. While a typical car might have a service life of ten years, and during the life of the car various components will have to be replaced such as batteries, tires, etc. Thus, although the car itself will have a life span of 10 years, the actual average service life of the car will be shorter once you take into account the additional retirements due to the replacing of each of the components.

959 Q. In this example, how would Mr. Pous estimate the interim retirements a car 960 would experience?

A. Using Mr. Pous' method of adjusting for interim retirements, one would estimate the
percentage of the car's cost that would be retired each year and adjust the average
service life based on this estimate.

964 Q. Does this method accurately estimate interim activity?

965 A. No, not for the life of the car. As any car owner knows from his or her own966 experience, this method does not accurately estimate actual interim retirements. The

Page 45 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

967 problem with Mr. Pous' methodology is that it assumes that retirements will occur at 968 a constant level throughout the life of the car. Obviously, this is not a true reflection 969 of how car repairs are spread out over the life of a car. Instead, there will likely be 970 few retirements in the early years of the car's life, but as the car and its components 971 age, the level of retirements increase. So while in the first few years only minor items 972 will need to be replaced, as the car gets older the owner will have to replace the tires, 973 the brakes and possibly even major items such as the transmission. These items are all 974 more expensive, so it is clear that retirements will increase in the later stages of the 975 life of the car. The pattern of retirements throughout the life of the car is referred to as 976 the "dispersion pattern".

- 977 Q. Does Mr. Pous' proposal account for the fact that interim retirements tend to
 978 increase as property gets older?
- 979 A. No.

980 Q. Does Mr. Pous' proposal account for a dispersion pattern?

A. No. As I have explained previously, his method instead makes the unrealistic
assumption that retirements will occur at a constant level every year.

983 Q. Does the company's proposed method take into account this sort of retirement
984 dispersion?

A. Yes. Instead of assuming a constant level of interim retirements, a more accurate
approach is to use the Company's method and estimate these interim retirements with
a survivor curve that better mirrors actual interim retirement experience taking into
account the dispersion pattern. This is exactly what I have done in the deprecation
study.

Page 46 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

990 Q. Please use the example of a car to help explain the difference between the two
991 methods and your criticism of Mr. Pous' method.

992 Α. Figure 2 graphically shows the results of using these two methods. The dashed line 993 illustrates Mr. Pous' method assuming an interim retirement rate of 0.02, which 994 means that two percent of the original cost of the car will be retired each year. The 995 dotted line illustrates the Company's method using a 10-R2 survivor curve. As the 996 graphs illustrate, Mr. Pous' method results in a constant level of retirements for each 997 year until the final retirement at age 10. As discussed earlier, this is not an accurate 998 estimate of actual replacement expenditures throughout the life of the car. Instead, the 999 10-R2 curve is a better reflection of actual interim retirements. There are very few 1000 retirements in the early years but retirements increase as more expensive parts need to 1001 be replaced.

The average service life for each estimate is the area under the curve. As expected, in each case the average service life is less than ten years. However, both methods lead to different results. The average service life using Mr. Pous' method is nine years, but using the Company's method and a 10-R2 survivor curve results in a more accurate average service life of 8.5 years.





As discussed previously, Mr. Pous' method fails to account for an increase in retirements as the property ages (e.g. brakes on a car). Thus, the average service life resulting from his method is too short, as it assumes that the level of interim retirements for the final five years of the life of the car will be the same as for the first five. This is of course an unreasonable assumption. Mr. Pous' estimates in this proceeding apply the same unreasonable assumption to PacifiCorp's power plants.

- 1013 Q. Please provide an example from the depreciation study that illustrates why your
 1014 method is more appropriate than that of Mr. Pous.
- 1015 A. I will use Account 312 Boiler Equipment. Mr. Pous addresses the same account in his
 1016 testimony. Specifically, he argues that a problem with my analysis is that "the results
 1017 of the Company's actuarial analysis in general do not provide reasonable matches

Page 48 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1018between the Observed Life Table ("OLT") (actual historical data pattern) and the1019assumed Iowa Survivor Curve the Company proposes as the best match of the1020 OLT^{42} ." As an example, Mr. Pous' references Account 312. However, although Mr.1021Pous claims that his estimates were "developed from the historical reported levels of1022retirement activity,"⁴³ his estimates actually represent a much worse fit of the1023historical data.

1024 To demonstrate the inadequacy of Mr. Pous' estimates, I have shown a graph 1025 of the original life table, my estimate and Mr. Pous' estimate in Figure 3 below. The 1026 diamonds on the graph represents the Company's historical data, the solid line 1027 represents the Company's interim survivor curve estimate, and the dashed line 1028 represents Mr. Pous' estimate. As the figure shows, Mr. Pous estimate is a much 1029 poorer fit of the historical data than my estimate. The figure also illustrates that Mr. 1030 Pous' estimate predicts far fewer estimates than the Company has actually historically experienced. That Mr. Pous' estimate significantly understates interim retirements is a 1031 1032 topic I will address later in this section of my testimony.

⁴² Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 22, lines 639-642.

⁴³ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 25, lines 726-728.

Figure 3: Comparison of Company and OCS Interim Retirement Estimates with Company Historical Data for Account 312 Boiler Plant Equipment



1033Q.Mr. Pous criticizes your estimate as not representing a good fit of the historical1034data. Is there a reason why your estimate does represent as good of a fit for later1035ages?

A. Yes. The reason is that I have incorporated judgment into my estimates, and specifically that the historical data beyond age 37 will not be as reflective of future experience. Notably, my estimate is a conservative estimate of future retirements when compared to all of the Company's data. An estimate that represents a better fit of all data points would actually represent an estimate of more interim retirements than the survivor curves I have selected.

1042Given the responses to discovery I have provided, it is surprising that Mr.1043Pous argues that the estimate I have made is not a "particularly good fit of the data"

Page 50 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1044and that the survivor curve "clearly begins to deviate from the OLT after 37 years of1045age and continues that deviations through the remainder of the data."1046protests elsewhere in his testimony that I that I have not provided enough information1047in the depreciation study and in discovery, I have actually explained in detail in the1048response to interrogatories from OCS why my estimates give more consideration to1049data points through age 37, for which my estimate does represent an excellent fit of1050the historical data. Based on his testimony, Mr. Pous appears to have ignored this

- 1051 information.
- 1052

1054

1055

1056

1057 1058

1059

1060

1061 1062

1063

In the response to OCS 1-14, I explained I placed more emphasis on the data

1053 points through age 36.5:

"The best fit curves from the overall experience band indicated average service lives that were shorter than the approved interim retirement rates, as the best fit curves were in the 45 to 55 year range with low to mid mode curves providing the best fits. The historical data also showed that retirements occurred at a higher rate subsequent to age 36.5, which corresponds to the age of the oldest units at the Huntington and Jim Bridger plants, and represents all ages with exposures greater than \$200 million. As a result, the data through age 36.5 represents the historical experience of a larger number of the Company's coal fired power plants. The best fit curves through age 36.5 ranged from 45 to 60 years.

1064Based on discussions with Company personal, PacifiCorp's1065expectations were that the estimates based on the trend in the historical1066data through age 36.5 better represented their outlook for interim1067retirements for this account. The historical data provides clear support for1068an estimate that forecasts more interim retirements than estimated in the1069previous study. The 60-L1 survivor curve represents an excellent fit1070through these ages."45

⁴⁴ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 22, lines 643-647.

⁴⁵ PacifiCorp response to OCS 1-14 Attachment.

1071Q.On page 23 of his testimony, Mr. Pous argues that the amount of interim1072retirements projected to occur based on your estimates is unreasonable. Do you1073agree?

- 1074 A. No. While Mr. Pous claims that "there is no evidence that demonstrates" the level of interim retirements based on my estimates "is reasonable or realistic,"⁴⁶ Figure 2 1075 1076 above actually provides compelling evidence that not only are the levels of interim 1077 retirements in my estimates reasonable, but they are actually conservative estimates 1078 when compared to the actual data. As I will discuss, there is additional evidence to 1079 support that my estimates are reasonable. Further, it should be noted that Figure 3 1080 demonstrates that Mr. Pous' estimates represent far too little interim retirement 1081 activity.
- 1082Q.Mr. Pous compares the average level of retirements for approximately the past1083100 years to the level of retirements based on your estimates in an effort to1084demonstrate that your estimates are unreasonable. Is this a meaningful1085comparison?
- A. No. This is a very misleading comparison. One hundred years ago the Company had far fewer plants and far, far less investment. Of course retirements were lower than they are today and were lower than they will be in the future. Most of the Company's steam plant investment has been installed in the past 40 years. Indeed, over 80 percent of the investment in Account 312 has been installed since 1981 and over 98 percent has installed since 1972. Thus, a comparison based on retirements from the past 100

⁴⁶ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 24 lines 682-684.

1092 years "on an annual basis"⁴⁷ is seriously flawed.

1093 Further, as I have explained, as plants age interim retirements should be 1094 expected to increase, due both to wear and tear and in order for the plants to meet 1095 modern regulations for air quality, water usage and ash disposal. The original design 1096 lives for the equipment in most of PacifiCorp's steam fleet is for 40 years or shorter, 1097 and therefore over 98 percent of the investment is of a younger age than the original 1098 design life of this equipment. In order to attain the life spans of approximately 60 1099 years for each plant that are far beyond the design life for this equipment, it is 1100 reasonable to expect that significant capital investments will need to be made, 1101 resulting in significant interim retirements. Thus, it is reasonable to expect 1102 retirements to occur at a higher level in the future than in the past.

Q. You have explained why Mr. Pous' effort to put interim retirement activity into
"proper perspective"⁴⁸ was flawed. Can you put both your and Mr. Pous'
estimates into a more proper perspective?

A. Yes. Rather than comparing the Company's projected interim retirements to a full
100 year history, a comparison to more recent history demonstrates that not only are
these estimates reasonable, but given the expectation that retirements will increase as
PacifiCorp's fleet ages the Company's estimates represent conservative estimates.

1110 In his testimony, Mr. Pous discusses an annualized future retirement amount 1111 based on \$1.4 billion in total projected interim retirements and an approximate 1112 19-year remaining life for the Company's investments. This equates to approximately

¹¹²

⁴⁷ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 23 lines 680-681.

⁴⁸ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 23, line 673.

1113 \$72.7 million in retirements per year. A comparison to the Company's recent history 1114 (as opposed to a flawed comparison of the Company's full 100 year history), shows 1115 that in the most recent ten years the Company's retirements for steam plant have 1116 averaged approximately \$66.9 million per year and in the most recent five years they 1117 have averaged approximately \$94.5 million per year. Thus, the Company's projected 1118 interim retirement values on an annual basis are very much reasonable when 1119 compared with the Company's actual experience. In fact, they are much lower than 1120 the most recent five year experience.

1121 Q. How do Mr. Pous' estimates compare with the company's actual experience?

1122 Simply put, Mr. Pous' estimates are inadequate when compared to the Company's A. 1123 experience. Based on the Company's 2011 plant balances, Mr. Pous' estimates are 1124 that the Company will make approximately \$26.2 million per year in interim 1125 retirements⁴⁹. Thus, Mr. Pous' estimates are that the Company's future interim 1126 retirements on an annual basis will be less than 40 percent of its most recent ten year 1127 experience and less than 30% of its most recent five year experience. Considering that 1128 retirements should be expected to increase as PacifiCorp's plants age, it should be 1129 clear that Mr. Pous' estimates forecast far too little interim retirement activity.

1130 Q. What is your conclusion in regards to estimates of interim retirements for1131 production plant?

A. The interim survivor curve estimates I have proposed in the depreciation study arebased on widely accepted methods for life span property. This methodology is

⁴⁹ Calculated as the 2011 plant balance for each account multiplied by Mr. Pous' interim retirement ratio for each account.

supported by authoritative depreciation texts, has been accepted by jurisdictions 1134 1135 across the United States and Canada, and has been accepted by this Commission. In 1136 contrast, Mr. Pous has proposed a methodology that is merely an approximation of 1137 the use of Iowa curves for interim survivor curves, and which results in estimates of 1138 interim retirements that are far too low. His proposals are less accurate, fail to incorporate any informed judgment, and are based on unrealistic assumptions for this 1139 1140 type of property. As I have demonstrated, contrary to Mr. Pous' claims that "no 1141 evidence" supports the levels of interim retirements I have estimated, the evidence 1142 does in fact strongly support my estimates and instead clearly demonstrates that Mr. 1143 Pous' estimates are inadequate. For all of these reasons, the Commission should 1144 accept the interim survivor curves presented in the depreciation study.

1145

VI. MASS PROPERTY LIFE ANALYSIS

1146 General Issues

1147 Q. Are there any general issues you would like to address?

A. Yes. I would like to address Mr. Pous' claim that despite the information provided in the depreciation study and in discovery there is a "failure in this case to explain and provide detailed support for its life selections for most accounts in the mass property area" and his recommendation that "the Commission order the Company to provide a clear and complete basis for each of its life and net salvage selections in future depreciation studies."⁵⁰

⁵⁰ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 73, lines 2003-2007.

1154 I would like to make clear that I have provided sufficient support for the bases 1155 of each selection in the study. Mr. Pous even acknowledges that a "significant amount of documents"⁵¹ have been provided for the study, and more importantly has ignored 1156 1157 much of the information provided in these documents. Given that he has ignored 1158 information provided to him, and that for the mass property accounts in which Mr. 1159 Pous has made different recommendations from mine the differences are due to 1160 different judgments based on the interpretation of historical data, I consider it unlikely 1161 that the inclusion of an even more significant amount of documents would have 1162 resulted in different recommendations for any party. As such, since the information 1163 Mr. Pous seeks is either redundant, unable to be quantified, or was in fact already 1164 provided but ignored by Mr. Pous, his request for additional documentation would 1165 only serve to burden the Company and add to the costs of filing a depreciation study 1166 while providing no value to the results of the depreciation study. 1167 Have any other parties made a similar complaint? **O**. 1168 A. No. Please provide examples of what information you have provided that Mr. Pous 1169 0. has ignored. 1170 1171 I will explain the information related specifically to actuarial analysis later in this A. 1172 section. In regards to SPR analysis, Mr. Pous has ignored the response to an

- interrogatory that has explained the selection process for each Utah distribution plant
 account for which he has proposed a different service life estimate. I will discuss this
- in more detail in the SPR section. I have also explained in the section on Production

⁵¹ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 73, lines 2010.

Page 56 - Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1176 Plant Interim Survivor Curves that Mr. Pous ignored a detailed description of the 1177 survivor curve selection process for those accounts.

1178 Q. Mr. Pous claims that you have failed "to explain and provide detailed support of 1179 its [vour] life selections."⁵² Do you agree?

- A. No. I have provided a description of this process in the depreciation study and in discovery responses. Additionally, in the response to OCS 1-10 I provided notes from my meetings with Company personnel regarding the assets included in the depreciation study. The attachment to this response included 42 pages of notes from meetings and responses to inquiries I asked of Company personnel.
- In regards to how this information impacted the life analysis, I have explained in the depreciation study that for the transmission plant accounts for which Mr. Pous has proposed adjustments, this information did not lead to a significant departure from the results of the statistical analysis. This does not mean that this information was not part of the judgment that informed my selected survivor curves. Instead, the information provided reinforced that the analysis of the historical data should provide a reasonable indication of future expectations for each of these accounts.

1192 Q. What information have you provided regarding the statistical analysis?

A. For the accounts for which Mr. Pous has proposed different estimates than mine, the statistical analysis was the primary basis for the life estimates in the depreciation study. While Mr. Pous claims I have provided no detail related to my considerations, the presentation in the depreciation study is clear as to which data points I considered to be important to the analysis. In the charts of survivor curves in the depreciation

⁵² Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 73, lines 2003-2004.

Page 57 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1198 study (for example, on page III-121 for Account 354), I have only included points I 1199 considered in the graphical depictions of the original life tables. This presentation of 1200 the data points that were considered in the analysis is standard practice for Gannett 1201 Fleming and is used in the vast majority of our studies, including many in which Mr. 1202 Pous was the witness. Additionally, Gannett Fleming has explained the curve fitting 1203 process and the selection of data points in testimony rebutting Mr. Pous in numerous 1204 proceedings. Many of the concepts explained later in this rebuttal, such as fitting the 1205 middle portion of the survivor curve, have been explained in other proceedings in 1206 which Mr. Pous was the witness. To repeat these concepts in every proceeding is 1207 unnecessary, as they are widely accepted and understood by depreciation 1208 professionals.

1209

Q. Does informed judgment impact the life analysis?

1210 Yes, there will always be judgment involved in the curve selection process. Judgment Α. 1211 is by definition based on considerations that are not quantifiable. Mr. Pous' protests 1212 in his testimony are in fact a request that I do the impossible – that I quantify every 1213 aspect of my judgment. Such an undertaking – providing a detailed narrative of every 1214 single consideration that has crossed my mind in the curve selection process – is not a 1215 typical practice for depreciation studies, as much of the information is redundant and 1216 the costs outweigh any benefits. Such a process would not result in different results or 1217 a different recommendation of depreciation expense. The results would in fact be the 1218 same, but would be incurred at a far more significant cost.

1219 There has been ample information provided to Mr. Pous to perform his own 1220 study, and make his own recommendations, as he has done. In my mind it is safe to

Page 58 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1221assume that he would have made similar estimates had I provided the type of detailed1222descriptions he desires for each of my estimates. I base this assumption in part on the1223fact that considerations that I and my firm have presented to Mr. Pous are consistently1224ignored by him in this and in other proceedings.

1225 Q. Is your study sufficiently supported?

A. Yes. However, informed judgment, based on my experience as an expert in the field
of depreciation, is a part of the depreciation process. To the extent that Mr. Pous and
Mr. Dunkel have presented different judgments from mine, I will respond to their
recommendations in the sections that follow.

1230 Actuarial Life Analysis

1231 Q. Please describe the process for transmission property life analysis.

1232 A. For accounts in which aged data is available, which includes RMP's transmission 1233 plant accounts, all parties in this proceeding agree with the use of a statistical analysis 1234 using aged retirements known as the Retirement Rate Method. This process is 1235 described in the depreciation study. The results of the analysis produced an average 1236 service life and dispersion curve for each of the accounts studied. These results were 1237 provided in pages III-4 through III-19 of the depreciation study. The statistical 1238 support for the estimates for transmission plant is presented in the section of the 1239 depreciation study entitled "Service Life Statistics," and can be found on pages III-96 1240 through III-149.

1241 Q. How do the analyses of the historical data provided by Messrs. Dunkel and Pous 1242 differ from that provided in the depreciation study?

1243 A. The main differences have to do with fitting smooth Iowa curves to the original life

Page 59 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

tables developed from the historical data. Both Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Pous interpret the
historical data differently than I do, which has led to different survivor curve
estimates.

1247 Q. For curve matching, can the selection of data points impact the results of the1248 analysis?

- A. Yes, it can. It is very important to determine which data points from the original survivor curve should be included in the analysis, and which should be emphasized more than others. Depending on the data points included, the curve fitting process can yield different results.
- 1253 **Q.** Please explain further the selection of data points.
- 1254 When fitting a survivor curve – either visually or mathematically – not all points in A. 1255 the historical data should be given the same weight. Mr. Pous does agree with the 1256 concept that not all points have the same value in the analysis; however, he tends to 1257 exclude meaningful information from his analysis. In his testimony, he opines that "it 1258 is more important to match a standard Iowa Survivor curve with the middle and upper 1259 portion of an OLT than the tail portion (end of the curve), depending on the dollar level of exposures at issue."53 Mr. Dunkel presents a different opinion of the selection 1260 1261 process, and for some accounts has included data points based on relatively small 1262 dollar exposures and that are not significant.

1263 Mr. Pous is correct that the dollar level of exposures is an important 1264 consideration in determining which portion of the original curve is most 1265 representative of future life expectations. However, the dollar level of exposures is

⁵³ Pous, p. 51, lines 1438-1440.

Page 60 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

only one consideration, and it is just as important to recognize which portions of the
curve provide the most information about the retirement pattern for a group of assets.
For this reason, Mr. Pous' emphasis on the top (and to a lesser extent the "upper
portions of the mid-range") tends to ignore data points that provide an important
indication of the survivor curve.

1271 Contrary to Mr. Pous' assertion, the academic literature on survivor curves 1272 indicates that the most representative portion of the survivor curve is the middle 1273 portion of the curve, generally the portion between 80 percent and 20 percent 1274 surviving. The reason that this portion is most representative is because the middle 1275 portion of the curve is where the majority of retirements occur. There are relatively 1276 few retirements at the "head" of the curve, and relatively few at the "tail."

In the development of survivor curves in Bulletin 125 of the Iowa Engineering Experiment Station, Robley Winfrey (who developed the Iowa Survivor curves) provides analysis showing that when doing curve fitting, the emphasis should be placed not on the first 20 percent of the curve or the last 20 percent but rather on the information in the middle years. Mr. Winfrey's analysis is based on the probable error involved in fitting a smooth survivor curve to an observed life table with varying percentages surviving. He concludes:

1284 "When survivor curves are to be classified according to the 18 types and 1285 the probable average life to be determined, it is recommended that more 1286 weight be given to the middle portion of the survivor curve, say that 1287 between 80 and 20 percent surviving, than to the forepart or extreme lower 1288 end of the curve. This inner section is the result of greater numbers of 1289 retirements and also it covers the period of most likely the normal 1290 operation of the property."⁵⁴

⁵⁴ Bulletin 125, Iowa Engineering Experiment Station, Winfrey, Robley, 1935, p. 91.

1291 Thus, Mr. Pous' contention that the head and upper mid portion of the curve are the 1292 most important portions of the survivor curve is not supported by the literature. To 1293 the contrary, the upper portions of the curve generally have percents surviving that 1294 exceed 80 percent.

There is some validity to Mr. Pous' claim that the dollar levels of exposures have importance in the analysis. However, the dollar level of exposures should not be given so much emphasis as to ignore the most relevant portion of the curve. More proper weighting, such as is presented in the depreciation study, is to generally exclude data points once they reach a level of exposures not considered to be significant.

1301 Q. Mr. Pous refers to a one percent criteria used to determine which points are 1302 significant. Do you agree with his approach?

1303 Mr. Pous states that "both Gannett Fleming and I generally rely on the portion of the A. 1304 OLT up to the point at which the dollar level of exposures declines to approximately 1305 one percent (1%) of the initial dollar level of exposures in the curve-fitting process."55 His implication is that only these points should be relied upon for the 1306 1307 accounts in question, and to this point I do not agree. As a general rule of thumb, the 1308 exclusion data points beyond where the level of exposures is less than one percent 1309 (1%) of the largest dollar level of exposures for the account may represent a 1310 reasonable starting point for life analysis (this is the criteria Gannett Fleming's 1311 software uses by default), but this is not a firm rule. There are cases where data points 1312 beyond this threshold should be considered, and also cases where data points prior to

⁵⁵ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 51, lines 1440-1443.

Page 62 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1313the one percent threshold should not be considered. Indeed, the former is true for the1314accounts at issue in this proceeding. Data points beyond this threshold are in general1315supportive of a higher mode curve, and I have therefore given these points1316consideration in my analysis.

1317 The most important concept the depreciation analyst should keep in mind is 1318 that the goal of life analysis is to determine the *future* life characteristics of a property 1319 group. Thus, when determining which portion of the curve to emphasize, the most 1320 important consideration is whether the data points are representative of the future.

Q. For the accounts in question in this proceeding, are there reasons to considerpoints beyond this one percent threshold?

A. Yes, there are a number of reasons. The first is that PacifiCorp has made significant investments in transmission assets in recent years, and in particular in new transmission lines. Thus, the early ages have much higher exposures than all other years. This makes a one percent (1%) threshold exclude data points with useful and significant information.

1328Second, the one percent (1%) threshold for many of these accounts occurs1329before the curve has even reached 80 percent surviving. Thus, the exclusion of points1330beyond this threshold results in the exclusion of the most important information about1331the survivor curve.

Q. For the accounts in question, what information can you determine from the datapoints beyond this threshold?

A. One of the important characteristics that can be determined from these data points is
that the historical data for the transmission line accounts shows higher mode curves –

Page 63 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

that is, retirements tend to increase considerably as the property ages. This is commonfor these types of property.

1338 Q. Why is this an important characteristic?

A. This is of particular importance because for each account in which Mr. Pous has recommended a different service life from mine, he has done so by selecting a lower mode curve. The impact and reasonableness of these selections by Mr. Pous is hidden to some degree by the presentation in his testimony, in which he only shows a portion of the survivor curve.

1344 Q. Please explain what you mean by Mr. Pous' presentation in his testimony.

1345 In the graphical presentations in his testimony, Mr. Pous only shows a portion of the A. 1346 survivor curve. In many cases, this is a small portion of the curve and does not even 1347 extend to 80 percent surviving. As a result, this presentation understates the actual 1348 differences between his estimates and mine. Thus, despite his pronouncements that his presentation "does not truncate or eliminate useful information."⁵⁶ it does in fact 1349 1350 exclude significant information about both his estimate and mine, in addition to the exclusion of data points that provide useful information (e.g. points beyond 80 1351 percent surviving). 1352

Further, while Mr. Pous argues that his presentation "simply permits a better visual representation for the Commission to consider,"⁵⁷ this is not the case. In addition to the exclusion of important information, Mr. Pous' presentation also amplifies differences at early ages that are not particularly meaningful.

⁵⁶ Pous, p. 53, lines 1508-1509.

⁵⁷ Pous, p. 53, lines 1509-1510.

1357 **Q.** Please provide an example to show how this presentation can be misleading.

1358 Α. Below is a graphical representation similar to Mr. Pous' for Account 354. I have 1359 included the original life table for the overall band for this account on pages III-122 1360 to III-123 of the depreciation study. In the chart below, I have compared the original 1361 life table with my estimate and the curve Mr. Pous claims is the best fit, similar to his 1362 presentation on page 60 of his testimony. Leaving aside that additional data points for 1363 the original life table should be considered – a point I will discuss shortly – this 1364 presentation only shows points for each curve through approximately 80 percent 1365 surviving. In other words, it does not show the portions of the original or smooth 1366 survivor curves that the academic literature shows to be the most meaningful.

Figure 4: OCS Presentation of Survivor Curves for Account 354 Towers and Fixtures



From this perspective, it may appear that the 78-R3 (which is not actually Mr. Pous' estimate) fits many of these data points better. However, even with this presentation it should be clear that the portion for which the 78-R3 is a better fit are the earliest ages in which very few retirements have occurred. Once retirements begin to occur more frequently, and the original data begins to decline more rapidly, my estimate does in fact become the better fit.

1373It should also be noted that in this presentation the differences between the 68-1374R4 and 78-R3 appear to be relatively minor. The graphs appear to be fairly similar,

1375

even though there is a significant 10-year difference in life between the two.

1376 Q. How do these curves compare when the entire curve is viewed?

A. I have presented this below in Figure 5. This presentation helps to show that for the
full survivor curve, the differences in the early portion of the curve are in fact minor,
and they do not provide much information about the survivor characteristics of the
property being studied. This is what I mean when I say that Mr. Pous' presentation
amplifies minor differences.

1382 Just as important, when the entire curve is viewed, it is much easier to see the 1383 differences between my estimate and that of Mr. Pous. As the chart illustrates, in 1384 selecting his "best fit", Mr. Pous is assuming that retirements will occur much less 1385 frequently than for my estimate for the ages that fall outside of his graphical 1386 presentation. This is important, as he has therefore concluded that - without any 1387 additional evidence – the best fit curve is a full ten years longer than my estimate. 1388 This also represents a significant change over the approved average service life 1389 estimate of 65 years. In my judgment, looking at Figure 5 below, my curve is in fact 1390 the better fit. At worst both are very similar fits based on the analysis of a limited 1391 number of data points. However, even if they are similar fits there is no evidence to 1392 favor such a large change in service life as proposed by Mr. Pous.



Figure 5: Comparison of Survivor Curves for Account 354 Towers and Fixtures

Q. You say that based on a more proper view of the data, there is no evidence for a
large change in service life. Is there any additional evidence in the data that your
estimate is superior?

1396A.Yes. If we consider additional data points, it is clear that my estimate of a higher1397mode and shorter service life is a much better representation of the historical data.1398Figure 6 below shows both survivor curves compared to the historical data through1399age 68.5. These ages are based on exposures of at least \$100,000. While this amount1400may be less than one percent (1%) of the maximum exposures, it still represents a1401robust sample of towers. Given that towers at this age are all at least 68 years old, the1402cost to install each tower was on average less than \$1,000. Thus, these exposures still

Page 67 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

represents a sample of around 100 towers. This is a large enough sample to not be discarded, especially because it provides information about the most meaningful portion of the curve.



Figure 6: Comparison of Survivor Curves for Account 354 Towers and Fixtures

As can be seen, Mr. Pous' "best fit" is a very poor fit for these ages. My estimate
represents a much better fit, and in addition is conservative in the consideration given
to the later data points.

1409 Q. For which actuarial accounts has Mr. Pous proposed different estimates from 1410 those in the depreciation study?

A. Mr. Pous has proposed different estimates for Account 354 Towers and Fixtures,
Account 355, Poles and Fixtures, and Account 356 Overhead Conductors and

Page 68 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

Devices. In each case, the primary basis for his estimates is a different interpretation of the historical data. I have addressed Account 354 in detail above. For Account 355 the analysis is very similar to Account 354. However, for Account 356 Overhead Conductors and Devices, Mr. Pous' estimate is not only a poor fit of the data, but his analysis and presentation in his testimony appears to be for data for a different account.

1419 Q. For account 356, is Mr. Pous' estimate a better fit of the historical data than 1420 your estimate?

A. No. Contrary to Mr. Pous' presentation in his testimony, the 64-R1.5 survivor curve represents a poor fit of the historical data. Despite the labels on the graph, the graphical depiction shown on page 67 of his testimony does not appear to actually represent either the historical data for this account or the 60-R3 survivor curve I have estimated. I have shown a graph of both my estimate and Mr. Pous' compared to the historical data in Figure 7 below. As the figure shows, Mr. Pous' 64-R1.5 estimate is a very poor fit of the historical data.



Figure 7: Comparison of Survivor Curve Estimates for Account 356 Overhead Conductors and Devices

1428Q.Why does Mr. Pous claim that the "64-R1.5 life-curve combination is an overall1429superior fit to the olt compared to the company's proposal?"58

A. Based on the presentation in Figure 7, it is unclear why he considers the 64-R1.5 to be
the better fit. However, it appears that in the graphical presentation on page 67 of his
testimony Mr. Pous has in fact plotted the original life table for a different account
(namely Account 355). Additionally, while there is a curve on his chart labeled

⁵⁸ Direct Testimony of Jacob Pous, p. 67, lines 1837-1839.

1434 "60R3," this curve does not actually represent a 60-R3 survivor curve. Instead, it1435 appears to represent the 60-R2 survivor curve estimate for Account 355.

1436 In other words, Mr. Pous has presented a graph of the data for a different 1437 account, has presented the graph of the estimate I have made for a different account, 1438 and has then used this graph to argue that his estimate is a better fit of the data. This 1439 clearly represents an error on his part. However, demonstrates additional 1440 shortcomings with the graphical presentation he has made throughout his testimony. 1441 As I have noted above, the presentation Mr. Pous provides is misleading in that it 1442 does not show a large portion of each survivor curve. Had Mr. Pous instead presented 1443 a graph of the full data set and survivor curves, it would be easier to see that he used 1444 the wrong data and curves for this account.

1445 Q. For which accounts has Mr. Dunkel proposed different survivor curves from
1446 your estimates?

A. Mr. Dunkel has proposed different survivor curve estimates for Account 353 Station
Equipment, Account 353.7 Supervisory Equipment and Account 357 Underground
Conduit.

1450 **Q.** What is the basis for Mr. Dunkel's estimates?

A. Mr. Dunkel discusses in his testimony the treatment of certain historical transactions
that cause him to recommend a different survivor curve estimate for Account 353. I
will address this in detail below. For Accounts 353.7 and 357 his estimates are based
on the historical data. He claims that he "found no compelling reason to be as far

Page 71 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos
1455away from the actual data as PacifiCorp is recommending"
59 and that the life he1456recommends is "in the range of lives used for that account by other utilities."
60 I will1457explain that there are compelling reasons to use the estimates that I have made, and1458that for Account 353.7 his estimate is in fact longer than the estimates for most1459utilities.

1460 Q. Please discuss account 353 station equipment.

- A. For this account Mr. Dunkel claims that I have treated certain transactions in the data
 "inconsistently"⁶¹ and that the consistent treatment results in his estimate being the
 better fit of the historical data.
- 1464 Q. What transactions is Mr. Dunkel referring to?
- 1465 A. Mr. Dunkel is referring to the sale of the Midpoint substation that occurred in 1988.

1466 Q. Did you treat this transaction inconsistently in your study?

A. No. Similar to his presentation regarding theoretical reserve imbalances and for net salvage, Mr. Dunkel's testimony gives the incorrect impression the recommendations
I have made are an intentional attempt to increase depreciation expense.⁶² This is simply incorrect. In order to make such a statement Mr. Dunkel is ignoring information provided in discovery that explains the treatment I have given to the sale of the Midpoint substation.

⁵⁹ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 43, lines 749-750.

⁶⁰ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 44, lines 749-750.

⁶¹ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 42, lines 725-726.

⁶² Dunkel.

1473 Q. Please explain further the treatment for life and net salvage analysis.

A. First, to address Mr. Dunkel's claim that this transaction was "excluded" from the net
salvage analysis, the Midpoint sale occurred in 1988. The net salvage data in the
depreciation study begins in 1992. Thus, all transactions prior to 1992 were not
included in the net salvage analysis, since these data were not available. Mr. Dunkel's
testimony gives the impression that I consciously excluded this transaction in order
produce a more negative net salvage estimate and higher depreciation. This is
incorrect, as the transaction occurred prior to the data used for net salvage analysis.

1481 As for life analysis, the specific identification of the retirement for the 1482 Midpoint sale was not available to me at the time I made the service life estimates for 1483 this account. The information has been researched by the Company after my study 1484 was completed and provided to other parties in discovery. However, at the time of my 1485 study I did recognize that this transaction likely represented an unusual retirement and 1486 took this into consideration as part of the judgment for the life analysis for this 1487 account. Additionally, I included in my analysis more recent experience bands that 1488 did not include this transaction.

1489 Q. Have you explained in discovery that this transaction was a consideration that 1490 you took into account?

A. Yes. I actually explained this in multiple data requests.⁶³ Mr. Dunkel does not appear to have taken my responses to these data requests into account, which explain that the treatment of this transaction was not in fact inconsistent.

⁶³ Responses to OCS 1.71 and OCS 1.14.

1494 Q. Has your review of Mr. Dunkel's testimony affected your analysis?

A. No, based on the information I have presented in the response to OCS 1.14, I still consider the 57-S0 survivor curve in the depreciation study to be the best estimate for this account. This estimate incorporates information other than just the statistical analysis, including that newer substation components have less tolerance in the design, and therefore are expected to have a somewhat shorter life than older equipment.

1501 Q. Have you provided any information in discovery on any of the other accounts for 1502 which Mr. Dunkel has proposed a different survivor curve?

1503 Yes. I have explained a number of considerations related to Account 353.7 Α. 1504 Supervisory Equipment in the responses to OCS 1.73. The 20 year life is more 1505 reflective of the type of assets in this account. Additionally, certain retirements were 1506 excluded from the presentation in the report, but should still be considered in the 1507 analysis. The inclusion of these retirements shows the 20-R2 to be a much better fit 1508 than Mr. Dunkel's estimate. While Mr. Dunkel may claim that he "found no 1509 compelling reason" for my estimates, I have presented a number of important reasons 1510 why a 20 year service life is a better estimate than a 25 year service life in the 1511 response to OCS 1.73.

Additionally, while Mr. Dunkel claims that the estimates of other utilities support his estimate for this account, he is incorrect. His opinion appears⁶⁴ to be based on a review of industry statistics I provided in discovery,⁶⁵ and specifically

⁶⁴ Based on Mr. Dunkel's response to RMP 1.10.

⁶⁵ Response to OCS 1.3.

1515 only the estimates for the assets labeled "supervisory equipment." However, the 1516 assets labeled "SCADA equipment" in the industry statistics I provided are also 1517 similar equipment to this account (RTUs, etc.). The estimates for these assets are 1518 typically 15 to 20 years.

1519 Q. Can you address Mr. Dunkel's estimate for account 357?

1520 A. Yes. Mr. Dunkel's estimate is based on an analysis of the historical data. However, 1521 based on his presentation in his testimony he is considering all data points. Almost all 1522 of the assets in this account have been installed very recently. Only \$100,000 has 1523 reached age 13.5 in the original life table. Beyond age 33.5 there are less than 1524 \$100,000 in exposures. Additionally, the historical data does not fall below 90 1525 percent surviving. Thus, the historical data actually provides very little determinative 1526 information about the survivor characteristics for this account. Given the limited 1527 historical data, I have recommended no change in the service life, which at this time 1528 is the most reasonable estimate for this account.

1529 Simulated Plant Record Analysis

1530 **Q.** Please describe the process for utah distribution property life analysis.

A. For the accounts in which sufficient aged data was not available, a semi-actuarial analysis known as Simulated Plant Record ("SPR") analysis was used. All parties in this proceeding agree with the use of SPR analysis for these accounts, which is described in the Depreciation Study. The results of the analysis produced an average service life and dispersion curve for each of the accounts studied. Mr. Dunkel and Mr. Pous have proposed different service life estimates than those I have recommended in the depreciation study for certain accounts based primarily on the results of the

Page 75 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

statistical analyses for these accounts. They have not taken into consideration otherinformation that I have presented in discovery.

1540 Q. Mr. Pous claims that the company has "declined to provide information that

1541 it relied upon associated with its claimed informed judgment and input from

1542 company personnel other than for account 364."⁶⁶ Is Mr. Pous correct?

- 1543 No. As mentioned in the general section, I have provided information related to the Α. 1544 service life estimates in the depreciation study, my notes from interviews from 1545 Company personnel, and in the responses to many data requests. In particular, in the 1546 responses to data requests I have explained further the judgment used for the SPR 1547 accounts for which both he and Mr. Dunkel have proposed adjustments. In OCS 1-56, 1548 Mr. Pous asked me to explain the selection of curves for which I "did not select the 1549 statistically best fitting SPR life-curve combination." In regards to the two accounts 1550 for which both Mr. Pous and Mr. Dunkel have proposed different survivor curve
- 1551 estimates, I responded:

1552 "For Accounts 367, 368 and 369, the approved service life estimates were retained. The approved estimates for each of these accounts were 1553 consistent with the estimates in other jurisdictions, which were based 1554 on actuarial analysis as opposed to SPR. The SPR analysis for Utah 1555 property also showed curve types with average service lives in the 1556 1557 same range as the approved estimates. The best fitting curves for these 1558 accounts deviated from the experience of PacifiCorp in other jurisdictions, and did not provide justification to deviate from the 1559 approved service life estimates."⁶⁷ 1560 1561

- 1562 Neither Mr. Pous nor Mr. Dunkel appears to have taken this information
- 1563 into account.

⁶⁶ Direct Testimony of Mr. Pous, p. 58, lines 1637-1639.

⁶⁷ Response to OCS-1.56.

- Q. Is your consideration of the estimates for PacifiCorp's property in other
 jurisdictions consistent with your review for other Utah distribution plant
 accounts?
- A. Yes, it is. In OCS 1-14 I had provided a detailed narrative of the survivor curve estimate for Account 364 Poles, Towers and Fixtures. In that response I explained that one of the reasons for not selecting the best statistical fit was the expectation that lives for Utah property would be similar to those for property in other PacifiCorp jurisdictions. I further explained in OCS 1-56 that "the reasons for using a curve other than the best fit for Account 365 were consistent with the reasons outlined in this narrative for Account 364."
- 1574 As noted above, in OCS 1-56 I also noted that there were similar 1575 considerations for Accounts 367, 368 and 369. Since actuarial data was available for 1576 many of PacifiCorp's other jurisdictions, the estimates for these jurisdictions were 1577 based on more detailed data than was available for Utah property. For this reason, as I 1578 have explained in data request response, I considered the statistical indications for PacifiCorp's other jurisdictions to be an important indicator of the service lives for 1579 1580 Utah property, since all assets are operated and maintained by the same management. 1581 Additionally, the estimates for each of these accounts are the same as those approved 1582 in the previous depreciation study. Given that PacifiCorp's other jurisdictions have 1583 similar lives to the approved estimates, and that there were similar statistical fits in 1584 the same range of lives, I do not think that the statistical analysis alone should result 1585 in a change in service life from the approved estimates.

1586

For Accounts 364 and 365, these considerations led to longer service lives

1587 than the best-fits in the statistical analysis, but for Accounts 367, 368 and 369 these 1588 considerations resulted in shorter service lives than the best-fits in the historical 1589 analysis. Thus, I employed a balanced approach in the depreciation study, with the 1590 consistent approach of considering the lives of similar property in PacifiCorp's other 1591 jurisdictions. In contrast, both Mr. Pous and Mr. Dunkel have not presented a 1592 balanced approach. Instead, both have accepted this approach for the two accounts 1593 where lives in the depreciation study were *longer* than the statistical best fits, but 1594 have ignored these considerations in cases in which the lives are *shorter* than the best 1595 statistical fits.

1596 Q. What is your recommendation for the SPR accounts?

A. Based on the information I have provided in discovery, the recommendations I have made for these accounts represent the most reasonable service life estimates. My recommendation is that the estimates from the depreciation study should be accepted.

1600

VII. MASS PROPERTY NET SALVAGE

1601 Q. How will you address Mr. Dunkel's proposal to deviate from the industry 1602 standard and longstanding straight line method for accruing for net salvage?

A. There are two primary issues I will address regarding Mr. Dunkel's proposal. The first is that his proposal is inappropriate in general, and specifically is not widely accepted, not endorsed by any authoritative depreciation texts (including those he cites), defers costs to future customers and will cost customers more over the long run.

1608The second issue is that Mr. Dunkel's application of his methodology is1609inappropriate. The estimates I have made in the depreciation study are in fact

Page 78 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1610 conservative (i.e. less negative) when compared to the Company's actual experience.

- 1611 However, Mr. Dunkel has improperly used these conservative estimates as the
- 1612 starting point for his calculations and as a result calculates net salvage estimates that
- are far too low even based upon his own methodology.

1614 General Discussion

1615 Q. Do you have any general comments on this issue?

1616 A. Yes. I would like to briefly discuss comments made by Mr. Dunkel discussing FERC
1617 and the Uniform System of Accounts ("USofA"), as well as his general tone
1618 regarding this issue.

1619 Q. What does Mr. Dunkel say in his testimony regarding the FERC USofA?

- 1620 Mr. Dunkel makes the statement that the USofA "requires the future retirement costs A. 1621 to be increased for future inflation, and also requires that the present-value of those inflated future retirement costs be used."68 This is not a correct statement concerning 1622 1623 the ratemaking treatment for future retirement costs (a.k.a. cost of removal), and Mr. 1624 Dunkel's testimony is misleading in its presentation of FERC's intent. As I will 1625 discuss in detail later in my testimony, Mr. Dunkel's discussion of the USofA is 1626 centered around a FERC accounting order (FERC Order 631) intended to provide 1627 guidance on the adoption of a new GAAP standard, SFAS 143. Both SFAS 143 and 1628 FERC Order 631 are related to the recognition of *liabilities* for retirement costs a 1629 Company is legally obligated to incur.
- 1630

That is, the intent of both of these accounting statements is to recognize on the

⁶⁸ Dunkel, p. 47, lines 784-786.

1631 balance sheet costs a company will be legally required to spend in the future. Neither 1632 SFAS 143 nor FERC Order 631 provides any direction on the proper ratemaking 1633 treatment for cost of removal. In fact, FERC is guite clear in Order 631 - in a passage 1634 quoted by Mr. Dunkel in his own testimony - that the issue of the ratemaking treatment for cost of removal "is beyond the scope of this rule."⁶⁹ I will discuss FERC 1635 1636 Order 631, as well as other FERC pronouncements, and show that FERC is in fact 1637 supportive of the traditional straight line method of accruing for net salvage and 1638 removal costs.

1639 Q. In addition to Mr. Dunkel's presentation regarding the FERC USofA, are there
 1640 any other aspects of his presentation that you would like to discuss before going
 1641 into more detail?

A. Yes. Mr. Dunkel's discussion of this issue in his testimony gives the impression that the Company's methodology for net salvage is an attempt to "overcharge"⁷⁰ customers and that the Company's approach is an attempt to unfairly burden certain generations of customers. For example, Mr. Dunkel states that in determining its net salvage estimates the Company "is using the step that increases the cost" and "excluding the step that would reduce the cost"⁷¹ (emphasis in original).

His presentation is misleading for a number of reasons. First, the methodology used by the Company is not an attempt to overcharge customers – the impression one might get from reading Mr. Dunkel's testimony. Instead, the Company is simply following the long established and widely accepted practice for including net salvage

Page 80 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

⁶⁹ Dunkel, p. 51, lines 852-858.

⁷⁰ Dunkel, p. 52, line 869.

⁷¹ Dunkel, p. 49, lines 811-812.

in depreciation rates, an approach based on nominal costs that is consistent with the treatment for historical capital expenditures and for rate base. This longstanding practice has been developed over many years based on analyses in rate cases and authoritative texts, and has been consistently accepted as the most equitable and reasonable approach for ratemaking.

1657 Additionally, Mr. Dunkel's use of the terms "cost" and "overcharge" are 1658 misleading. In his testimony, these terms refer only to depreciation expense. 1659 However, depreciation also impacts other components of customer rates, most 1660 notably rate base. The total "charge" to customers through rates is not just the 1661 depreciation expense, but also includes the impact of these other components. Mr. 1662 Dunkel's testimony focuses on a single issue – depreciation expense – but does not 1663 consider any other impacts on customer rates. As I will demonstrate in this testimony, 1664 in the context of ratemaking, the general system of recording costs and the recovery 1665 of those costs in nominal dollars is actually a benefit to customers and results in lower 1666 customer rates than alternative systems – including that proposed by Mr. Dunkel.

1667 Q. Please elaborate on the "system" you describe for ratemaking.

A. It is the longstanding and well established practice in the industry, for both this jurisdiction and for other jurisdictions, that capital costs are recorded at the cost expended for the time period in which these costs are expended. That is, these expenditures are recorded at original cost or in nominal dollars. The capital expenditures are then charged to customer rates in two ways, through the return *of* capital (namely depreciation expense) and through the return *on* capital (largely through return on rate base). The longstanding practice for the return of capital, based

Page 81 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1675 on decades of case history and FERC instructions, is to use the straight line method of 1676 recovery, based on the recording of expenditures in nominal dollars. This is true for 1677 both the original cost of an asset and for its net salvage costs at retirement, and the 1678 total of these costs is referred to as the "service value" of the asset.

1679 The longstanding practice for the return of capital is that rate base is 1680 determined based on deducting the historical accumulated depreciation from the 1681 original cost of assets in service. No provision is made to inflate these historical costs 1682 to current dollars, or to use a present value approach.

1683 Q. What is the effect of these practices on customer rates?

1684 The net effect is that customer rates are generally lower than had an alternative Α. 1685 approach been used, such as recognizing costs in current dollars or using a present 1686 value approach. Customers benefit from the fact that rate base is recorded at historical 1687 cost, and is therefore much lower than had an inflated or present value approach been 1688 used. Customers also benefit because the return of historical capital expenditures is 1689 also based on the much lower historical cost, as opposed to recovered in current 1690 dollars or at present value. Finally, as I will demonstrate, the use of the straight line 1691 recovery of future net salvage costs will also normally have the net effect of reducing 1692 customer rates. While period depreciation charges are higher than under an alternative 1693 method, the accumulated depreciation is also higher due to higher historical 1694 depreciation accruals. As a result, rate base is lower than under an alternative method. 1695 Since the rate of return is normally higher than depreciation rates, the net effect is in 1696 fact lower customer rates using the approach used by the Company and the Utah 1697 Commission.

Page 82 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1698 Q. Please summarize your testimony on this issue.

1699 A. In contrast to the presentation in Mr. Dunkel's testimony, the Company is not 1700 proposing a methodology that is harmful to customers or that is inconsistent with 1701 FERC and widely accepted ratemaking practices. Instead, it is Mr. Dunkel that has 1702 proposed a significant change in methodology. Further, despite his claims that 1703 "proper depreciation rates are fair to all parties, including investors, current ratepayers and future ratepayers,"⁷² when the full impact on customer rates of his proposal is 1704 1705 considered, his proposal does not actually meet this definition of "proper." Instead, as 1706 I will show, his proposal disproportionally benefits current customers, who benefit 1707 from a lower rate base from the historical straight line recover of net salvage, at the 1708 expense of future customers, who will pay higher customer rates.

1709 Description of Methods

1710 Q. Please explain the differences between your net salvage proposals and those of 1711 Mr. Dunkel.

A. Consistent with the FERC USofA and authoritative depreciation texts, for each account I have estimated net salvage as a percentage of original cost, and have then proposed to recover the estimated net salvage using the straight-line method over the lives of PacifiCorp's assets. I will refer to this method as the "traditional straight line method" or "traditional method". Mr. Dunkel has accepted the net salvage estimates

⁷² Dunkel, p. 3, lines 80-82.

1717 from my study, but then proposes to use a decelerated method⁷³ of recovery for these 1718 costs.

1719 **Q.** How have you developed your net salvage estimates?

- A. As I describe on pages II-31 through II-36, the net salvage estimates were based on
 judgment which incorporated the statistical analysis of PacifiCorp's historical data.
- 1722 **Q.** Please describe the statistical analysis.
- A. In the statistical net salvage analysis, cost of removal, gross salvage and net salvage are expressed as a percentage of retirements. Data was available for the period 1992 to 2011, and overall and moving averages were analyzed to determine trends and provide an indication of the historical net salvage as a percentage of retirements.
 Based on this analysis, I have made estimates of net salvage expressed as a percentage of original cost.

1729 Q. Are there any specific aspects of your judgment that you would like to address1730 here?

A. Yes. For most transmission and Utah distribution accounts, the approved net salvage estimates were based on a settlement in Docket No. 07-035-13. The result of this settlement was that the net salvage estimates for most of these accounts were much less negative than the indications in the historical data. In the depreciation study, I employed a degree of gradualism in my estimates, meaning that while the data indicated more negative net salvage estimates, I have proposed more gradual changes.

⁷³ A decelerated method is also referred to as a "deferred" method of depreciation. The NARUC definition in *Public Utility Depreciation Practices* is presented on page 17, and states "The deferred method assigns more depreciation expense to the later years of the life of plant by applying compound interest formulas." This is in contrast to the straight line method, which "distributes the cost of property in equal annual amounts, as nearly as is practicable, over its life."

For this reason, as well as others I will discuss in more detail in a later section, the estimates I have made represent very conservative net salvage estimates.

1739 **Q.** How does Mr. Dunkel's method differ from yours?

A. Mr. Dunkel has not challenged the estimates I have made, but instead has proposed a
different pattern of recovery. Mr. Dunkel's method is a decelerated method of
recovery, meaning that instead of recovering costs equally over the lives of the assets,
the accruals increase over time. I will present a more detailed comparison of my
method and that of Mr. Dunkel later in my testimony.

1745 Acceptance of Methods

1746 **Q.** What is the purpose of this section of your testimony?

- A. In this section I will demonstrate that the present value method that has been
 proposed by Mr. Dunkel is not widely accepted. First, I will discuss the proscription
 of the Uniform System of Accounts and explain that only the traditional straight line
 accrual method meets the definitions and instructions in the USofA.
- 1751Next, I will discuss the history of alternative proposals to the straight line1752method, in other jurisdictions. As the record shows, with the exception of a handful of1753states, the vast majority of jurisdictions have accepted that only the traditional straight1754line accrual method produces intergenerational equity and that alternative methods,1755such as that proposed by Mr. Dunkel, should be rejected as deferrals of costs to future1756customers.

1757 Uniform System of Accounts

- Q. Mr. Dunkel claims that for retirement costs for which the company has a legal
 obligation, the FERC USofA "requires that the present-value of those inflated
 costs be used."⁷⁴ Do you agree?
- A. No. As I will demonstrate, Mr. Dunkel's support for this claim is a FERC
 Accounting Order explaining how utilities should implement a Federal Accounting
 Standards Board ("FASB") standard pertaining to the *liabilities* for legal asset
 retirement obligations. This FERC Accounting Order does not address the
 ratemaking treatment for depreciation and net salvage. Instead, the USofA is clear
 that the straight-line method proposed by RMP is appropriate for ratemaking.
- 1767 Q. Does the uniform system of accounts address the issue of how net salvage costs
 1768 should be accounted for, and if so, how?
- A. Yes. As I will show by analyzing various definitions and instructions, USofA provides that net salvage costs should be accrued using the straight-line method over the course of an asset's service life (i.e., recognized in each period in which the asset provides service), and not recovered using a sinking-fund method as proposed by Mr. Dunkel.
- 1774 Q. Please explain.

1775 A. "Depreciation," as defined in the USofA, refers to the loss in <u>service value</u> not 1776 restored by current maintenance, incurred in connection with the consumption or 1777 prospective retirement of electric plant in the course of service from causes which

⁷⁴ Direct Testimony of Mr. Dunkel, p. 47, lines 785-786.

1778 can be reasonably anticipated or contemplated, against which the Company is not
1779 protected by insurance. Among the causes to be given consideration are wear and
1780 tear, decay, action of the elements, inadequacy, obsolescence, changes in the art,
1781 changes in demand, and the requirements of public authorities.

Depreciation accrual rates are used to allocate, for accounting purposes, the service values of assets over their service lives. As a result, each year of service (and each generation of customers) is charged with the portion of the asset consumed or used in that year. The total annual depreciation is based on a system of depreciation accounting which aims to distribute the cost of fixed capital assets, less net salvage, over the estimated useful life of the unit, or group of assets, in a systematic and rational manner.

1789 Q. You referred to depreciation as the "loss in service value." What is service1790 value?

A. Service value, as defined in the USofA, is "the difference between original cost and
net salvage value of electric plant."⁷⁵

1793 Q. Does the USofA also define what it means by "net salvage value"?

A. Yes. "Net salvage value' means the salvage value of property retired less the cost of removal."⁷⁶ Net salvage is described as "positive net salvage' if the salvage value exceeds removal costs, and described as "negative net salvage" (i.e., a net cost) if removal costs exceed the salvage value.

 ⁷⁵ 18 CFR, Chapter 1, Part 101 Uniform System of Accounts Prescribed for Public Utilities and Licensees Subject to the Provisions of the Federal Power Act. Definition 36.
 ⁷⁶ *Id.* Definition 19.

1798 Q. Does the uniform system of accounts prescribe a method of depreciation
1799 accounting?

A. Yes. The electric USofA includes General Instruction 11, "Accounting to be on accrual basis," which states, "The utility is required to keep its accounts on the accrual basis." Further, General Instruction 22, "Depreciation Accounting," pertains to electric utilities and states, "Utilities must use a method of depreciation that allocates in a systematic and rational manner the service value of depreciable property over the service life of the property."

1806 **Q.** What is the accrual basis of accounting?

1807 Under the accrual basis of accounting, transactions are counted when the order is A. 1808 made, the item is delivered, or the service occurs, regardless of when any money for 1809 such orders, items, or services is actually received or paid. The accrual basis 1810 recognizes economic events without regard to when the related cash transaction 1811 occurs. Thus, net salvage costs are traditionally recognized when the service is 1812 rendered, i.e., during each year of an asset's service life, rather than when the actual 1813 salvage-related costs are incurred. To only recognize the costs at the time any 1814 salvage-related dollars change hands would be to follow the "cash" basis of 1815 accounting, contrary to the instructions of the Uniform System of Accounts.

1816 Q. Does the uniform system of accounts proscribe a depreciation method?

1817 A. As noted above, FERC proscribes that depreciation must be "systematic and rational." It does not proscribe a specific method. However, the history of FERC's rulemaking provides evidence that FERC's intent is not as portrayed by Mr. Dunkel.
1820 In FERC's proposed rulemaking for FERC Order No. 618, FERC had originally

Page 88 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1821 proposed to require "depreciation rates for accounting purposes that were based on the straight-line method of depreciation."77 Due to comments from a number of 1822 1823 parties, FERC revised its language so as to not be "overly prescriptive." However, 1824 FERC was clear in Order No. 618 that "straight-line depreciation was [is] the method 1825 typically used by utilities" and that FERC expects "that that is likely to continue to be the case for most utility property."78 As I will discuss further, contrary to Mr. 1826 1827 Dunkel's presentation, FERC does not accept his decelerated method for accruing for 1828 net salvage.

1829 Notably, the comments to the proposed rulemaking were largely in response 1830 to the evolution of technological changes and increased competition in electricity 1831 markets, which could require the potential need for non-traditional methods 1832 (generally accelerated, not decelerated methods) that provide a "better matching of expenses with revenues."⁷⁹ Thus, FERC's intent was to not be overly proscriptive so 1833 1834 as to limit the methods available under these types of circumstances. The intent was 1835 not to allow for the departure from the straight-line method for the methodology Mr. 1836 Dunkel proposes for net salvage.

1837 Q. Based on the foregoing definitions, instructions, and rulemaking, what do you 1838 conclude the uniform system of accounts requires regarding net salvage?

1839 A. The USofA requires that net salvage, as a component of service value, must be 1840 allocated or accrued over the service life of the property in a systematic and rational 1841 manner. In addition, based on the above discussion, the intent of the USofA is that the

⁷⁷ FERC Order 618, paragraph 5.

⁷⁸ FERC Order 618, paragraph 17.

⁷⁹ FERC Order 618, paragraph 8.

1842 straight line method should be used except under unique circumstances (such as 1843 competitive pressures). Mr. Dunkel has proposed to use the straight-line method for 1844 the portion of depreciation expense related to the original cost of plant, but has 1845 proposed to use a different decelerated method for the portion of depreciation expense 1846 related to net salvage. I would not consider this inconsistent treatment to be either 1847 "systematic or rational," as the USofA requires.

1848 Q. Mr. Dunkel cites FERC order no. 631 as evidence that the sinking fund method 1849 should now be used for net salvage for legal obligations. Do you agree?

- 1850 A. No. As Mr. Dunkel notes, FERC Order No. 631 was in response to SFAS 143, which 1851 required public companies to record a liability for legal AROs. FERC Order No. 631 1852 modified the Uniform System of Accounts to allow utilities to record the entries 1853 required for financial reporting by FAS 143 on the books maintained for regulatory 1854 accounting. In fact, the citations Mr. Dunkel makes in his own testimony should make 1855 clear that the intent of Order No. 631 was to proscribe the recognition with these 1856 liabilities in accordance with GAAP, not to change the ratemaking treatment for 1857 depreciation expense.
- 1858 Mr. Dunkel quotes language from FERC's Notice of Proposed Rulemaking,1859 which states:

"In summary, the new accounting standard requires the present value of <u>the</u> <u>liability</u> to be recorded for all assets." (emphasis added)⁸⁰ FERC is clear that the reason it has amended the USofA to establish "uniform

accounting and reporting for the recognition and measurement of <u>liabilities</u> arising

⁸⁰ Paragraph 8 of FERC Notice of Proposed Rulemaking issued on October 30, 2002.

1864 from retirement and decommissioning obligations of tangible long-lived assets, and 1865 related costs. More specifically, the Commission is adding <u>new balance sheet</u> 1866 <u>accounts</u> to record <u>the liability</u> and depreciation of the related asset [retirement 1867 obligation]" (emphasis added).⁸¹ In other words, the intent is to recognize a liability, 1868 and the impact is on the balance sheet, not on the ratemaking treatment for net 1869 salvage.

1870 Q. Does FERC address the ratemaking impact of Order No. 631?

1871 A. Yes. FERC specifically stated that the order did not affect existing tariffs. In
1872 paragraph 60, FERC states "the Commission is not requiring jurisdictional entities
1873 with stated rate tariffs to make any tariff filings with the Commission due to this final
1874 rule at this time." The Order goes on to explain that:

1875 "The accounting for removal costs that do not qualify as legal retirement obligations falls outside the scope of this rule. The Commission is aware that there is an ongoing discussion in the accounting community as to whether the cost of removal should be considered as a component of depreciation. However, this issue is beyond the scope of this rule and we are not convinced that there is a need to fundamentally change accounting concepts at this time."⁸²

- 1882 In other words, FERC is clear that Order 631 does not address the ratemaking
- 1883 treatment of net salvage, and Order 631 is instead limited in scope to the treatment of
- 1884 liabilities as set forth in SFAS 143. FERC is explicit that FERC Order 631 does not
- 1885 change the treatment of cost of removal as a component of depreciation. Mr. Dunkel
- 1886 should recognize that FERC Order 631 does not address depreciation expense or
- 1887 ratemaking, since he actually cited this portion of the Order in his testimony. Thus, it

⁸¹ FERC Order 631, Summary paragraph 2.

⁸² FERC Order 631, paragraph 37.

is disingenuous for him to claim that "the FERC Uniform System of Accounts
(USofA) requires the future retirement costs to be increased for future inflation, and
also requires that the present-value of those inflated future retirement costs be used"⁸³
with the implication that this has any bearing on the ratemaking treatment for net
salvage. As I have explained, the proscriptions and intent of other statements by
FERC is instead that straight line depreciation be used for depreciation expense.

1894 Q. Why should ratemaking follow the procedure outlined in the USofA?

1895 The USofA was developed for public utilities and adopted by regulatory commissions A. 1896 to provide useful information for regulatory reporting and ratemaking purposes. The 1897 definition of depreciation used in the USofA resulted from court orders involving 1898 public utility rates. That is, it reflects the courts' view of public utility depreciation. It 1899 considers issues such as customer equity and matching that are no longer reflected in 1900 GAAP. Financial accounting and regulatory accounting each serves a different 1901 purpose. Financial accounting is used in developing financial statements for reporting 1902 financial information in accordance with GAAP. GAAP's purpose is to establish 1903 general principles and provide consistency in accounting across all companies, which 1904 provides users comparability among the companies.

1905 Regulatory accounting is governed by FERC and by various state and local 1906 regulatory agencies. The purpose of regulatory accounting is to provide accounting 1907 information in a manner that assists utility regulators in their ratemaking treatment of 1908 regulated companies. As a result, certain accounting concepts under regulatory 1909 accounting may differ from those used under GAAP financial accounting.

⁸³ Dunkel, p. 47, lines 784-786.

Page 92 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

1910 Treatment in Other Jurisdictions

1911	Q.	Is the traditional straight line accrual method for net salvage widely accepted in
1912		other jurisdictions?

- A. Yes. With only a few exceptions, the traditional method is accepted in the vastmajority of jurisdictions.
- 1915 Q. Have you asked Mr. Dunkel for cases in which his methodology has been1916 accepted?
- 1917 A. Yes. Mr. Dunkel declined to provide any information on the acceptance of his
 1918 proposal, with the exception to reiterate his incorrect assertion that FERC Order 631
 1919 has incorporated his methodology into the USofA for ratemaking purposes⁸⁴.
- 1920 Q. Based on his testimony and responses to discovery, has Mr. Dunkel provided any
 1921 evidence that his methodology has been accepted by any jurisdiction?
- A. No. His only evidence in his testimony and in discovery is his discussion of FERC
 Order 631. I have explained in detail that his interpretation of this Order is incorrect.
 Thus, it should be quite clear that Mr. Dunkel has provided no convincing evidence of
 the acceptance of his methodology. Given that he is proposing a significant departure
 from longstanding and widely accepted practices, he has provided minimal evidence
 that such a dramatic change is necessary or appropriate.

1928Q.Are you familiar with any states that have accepted alternative methods for net1929salvage?

1930 A. Marvlan

A. Maryland, Delaware and the District of Columbia have also adopted alternative

Page 93 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

⁸⁴ DPU's response to RMP 1.11.

1931approaches similar to that proposed by Mr. Dunkel, although alternative1932methodologies are not exclusively used in all of these states. Pennsylvania has also1933used a different methodology of expensing net salvage for many years. This1934methodology was in fact mandated by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. New Jersey1935uses an approach similar to Pennsylvania. To my knowledge, all of the other states1936use the traditional accrual method proscribed by the USofA.

1937In other words, of the 50 U.S. states and the District of Columbia, 461938(including Utah) use the methodology proposed by the Company, three use1939methodologies similar to that of Mr. Dunkel, and two uses a different methodology.

1940 Q. Are you familiar with any states that have rejected alternative proposals for net 1941 salvage?

A. Yes. In this testimony I will discuss the decisions in a number of jurisdictions. In many of these cases, Mr. Dunkel was a witness and proposed a similar methodology as in this case. In each case that I will discuss, the decisions occurred after the adoption of FERC Order 631, providing further evidence that Mr. Dunkel's interpretation of this Order is incorrect. However, I should note that this is only a sample of cases; the majority of states continue use the straight line method.

1948 Q. Please address the acceptance of net salvage methods in Georgia.

A. Prior to 2010, the Georgia Public Service Commission had approved a methodology
similar to that used by Mr. Dunkel in this proceeding. However, Georgia has since
returned to the traditional method of calculating net salvage similar to the method
used by RMP.

1953

In its 2010 Decision for the Atlanta Gas Light Company the Georgia

1954 Commission ruled that the traditional method was most appropriate. Mr. Dunkel was 1955 the witness for PIAS in that case, and had argued for a present value net salvage 1956 methodology for net salvage. However, in the Georgia Commission's Short Order it 1957 stated that "(t)he [c]ommission finds as a matter of fact that it is appropriate to restore 1958 the traditional method for calculating net salvage to avoid deferring costs to future customers."85 In its Final Order the Georgia Commission affirmed that it found the 1959 "traditional depreciation methodology to be reasonable,"⁸⁶ and further noted that the 1960 "non-traditional approach by Mr. Dunkel may reduce depreciation rates but it is not 1961 consistent with regulatory ratemaking accounting rules."⁸⁷ 1962

1963 Q. Please address the acceptance of net salvage methods in Michigan.

- A. Michigan held a generic proceeding⁸⁸ in which a number of net salvage
 methodologies were considered, including a method similar to that of Mr. Dunkel
 based on the approach in SFAS 143. The Michigan Public Service Commission has
 ruled in favor of the traditional accrual method in this generic proceeding. In that
 Decision the Michigan Commission stated:
 The Commission agrees with Consumers and the Staff that continued
- 1969The Commission agrees with Consumers and the Starr that continued1970use of the traditional, straight–line depreciation method is the most1971appropriate means of addressing future removal costs.
- 1972 Mr. Dunkel was the witness for the Attorney General in the Michigan case. The Order
- 1973 discusses his proposal:
- 1974The net present value approach proposed by the Attorney General has1975been consistently rejected by most Commissions and does not comport

⁸⁵ Georgia Public Service Commission Docket No. 31647, Short Order, filed November 3, 2010, p. 4.

⁸⁶ Georgia Public Service Commission Docket No. 31647, Final Order, filed December 21, 2010, p. 9.

⁸⁷ Ibid, p. 4

⁸⁸ Michigan Public Service Commission, Docket No. U-14292.

1976 with depreciation methods recommended by authoritative sources on depreciation accounting. The accrual for net salvage must be based on 1977 estimates of the future cost that will be incurred, not the removal cost 1978 1979 at today's price level. Therefore, it is appropriate to ask current customers to pay for future costs of removal at inflated price levels, 1980 1981 and, as Mr. Watson pointed out, the rate base offset compensates rate 1982 payers for the prior payment for the costs incurred by the utility. Finally, the Commission finds that the Attorney General's proposed 1983 method significantly decreases the cash flows available to utilities to 1984 1985 meet their infrastructure and other public service obligations. This, in turn, has a negative financial effect on both the utility and its 1986 1987 customers by requiring that such obligations be met with more 1988 expensive sources of external financing and by driving up the cost 1989 generally of obtaining money in the capital markets. The Commission finds that the Attorney General has not shown that the adoption of the 1990 1991 net present value method would justify these increased costs for utility consumers.⁸⁹ 1992

1993 Q. Please address the acceptance of net salvage methods in California.

1994 Various alternative methods for net salvage have been proposed in a number of cases A. 1995 in California. In each case, these approaches were rejected. In the most recent, Docket No. A.06-12-009 for Sempra Energy, a different consulting group submitted 1996 1997 testimony on behalf of The Utilities Reform Network ("TURN"), an independent 1998 intervenor group, in which TURN proposed an alternative methodology for net 1999 salvage. Although the Sempra case resulted in a settlement, the California 2000 Commission still addressed the methodology for net salvage and made clear that 2001 alternative methodologies would not be accepted. In that Decision, filed August 10, 2008, the commission stated on page 23: 2002 2003 The alternative methodology proposed by TURN was not adopted in 2004 the most recent Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E) and

2004Ine most recent Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E) and2005Southern California Edison Company (SCE) GRCs. We would2006therefore have denied with prejudice the recommendations of DRA,2007TURN, and UCAN on depreciation and net salvage in a litigated

⁸⁹ Michigan Public Service Commission Order, Case No. U-15629 filed September 29, 2009, page 12.

2008decision. The purpose of this discussion of our likely denial is to avoid2009an unnecessary repetition in subsequent proceedings. Any party that2010raises these issues again should have new analysis and new arguments2011which may persuade us, unlike the arguments raised here or in other2012recent rate proceedings.

2013 Q. Has FERC ever adopted any of the alternative methods proposed by Mr. Dunkel

2014 or his firm?

2015 No. As noted above, the rejection of similar proposals to that of Mr. Dunkel by A. 2016 various state commissions has occurred after the release of FERC Order 631. This 2017 should confirm that Mr. Dunkel's interpretation that FERC Order 631 applies to 2018 ratemaking treatment of costs of removal is incorrect. However, further evidence can 2019 be found in that FERC itself has not adopted the methodology proposed by Mr. 2020 Dunkel in any of its jurisdictional rate cases. Intervening parties have presented 2021 various alternative methodologies to FERC a number of times, and to my knowledge 2022 the FERC has always rejected them and adopted the traditional method as used by the 2023 Company.

2024 Q. Did you ask Mr. Dunkel whether his methodology has been accepted by FERC?

A. Yes. Mr. Dunkel declined to provide any examples of cases in which his
methodology has been accepted by FERC, and instead only again referenced FERC
Order 631. His response confirms my understanding that FERC has in fact never
accepted his proposed methodology for ratemaking purposes.

2029 <u>Treatment in Authoritative Depreciation Texts</u>

2030 Q. Do authoritative texts on depreciation address the issue of the 2031 depreciation method for net salvage?

2032 A. Yes, they do.

Page 97 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

2033 Q. What do these texts provide?

A. *Public Utility Depreciation Practices* and *Depreciation Systems* are preeminent texts on the subject of depreciation, and each recognizes that the straight line method is most appropriate for depreciation. *Public Utility Depreciation Practices*, published in 1996 by the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC) states "the straight line method is almost universally used in the utility rate making process."⁹⁰ It should also be noted that for FERC Order No. 618, NARUC "supported the exclusive use of the straight-line method of depreciation."⁹¹

2041 The 1994 edition of *Depreciation Systems* is another highly regarded, 2042 authoritative text on depreciation matters. Mr. Dunkel cites this source on pages 2043 53 and 54 of his testimony, and attempts to use it in support of his proposal. 2044 However, Mr. Dunkel quotes this text out of context. Instead, Wolf and Fitch are 2045 clear that "the straight line method of allocation is used almost exclusively by 2046 regulated, capital-intensive companies when calculating depreciation accruals for 2047 book accounting purposes. The straight line method applies a constant annual 2048 accrual rate to the cost of the unit, this yielding a constant annual depreciation charge."⁹² 2049

2050 Q. Do these texts explain how net salvage is estimated?

A. Yes. Both explain that net salvage is expressed as a percentage of original costs and is
estimated using the same methods I have employed.

⁹⁰ NARUC, Public Utility Depreciation Practices, 1996, p. 61.

⁹¹ FERC Order No. 618, paragraph 7.

⁹² Depreciation Systems, W. C. Fitch and Frank K. Wolf, 1994, p. 249.

2053 Q. Do either present Mr. Dunkel's present value methodology as a valid approach?

2054 A. No.

2055 Q. How do these authorities impact your analysis?

A. They show that accruing net salvage costs over the life of the related asset has the virtue of being not only the majority approach, but the considered approach as well.

2058 **Comparison of Methods**

- 2059 Q. Please provide a comparison of the net salvage methods proposed in this
 2060 proceeding.
- 2061 A. For the purpose of our testimony, I have modeled the impact of each estimate on 2062 depreciation expense as well as on a total cost of service basis. These examples will 2063 demonstrate that Mr. Dunkel's proposal actually results in a higher cost to customers 2064 on a total cost of service basis than the use of the traditional method for net salvage. 2065 Additionally, I will explain some of the reasons why the straight line method is 2066 normally used, including that it is consistent with the treatment of rate base and 2067 historical capital expenditures, and that an alternative approach such as Mr. Dunkel's 2068 methodology is unnecessarily complicated and results in depreciation rates that need 2069 to be updated to the present value every year.

2070 Straight Line Method vs. Decelerated

2071 Q. Please provide an example to show the recovery pattern for both your and Mr. 2072 Dunkel's proposals.

2073A.To illustrate this concept, I will use the same account Mr. Dunkel presents as an2074example in his testimony, Account 356 Overhead Conductors and Devices. Figure 4

Page 99 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

2075 below contains a comparison of the annual depreciation accruals for plant currently in

2076 service over the lives of the assets currently in service.





The recovery pattern for the traditional method shown in Figure 6 is the same shape as the survivor curve for this account (shown on page III-133). That is, the recovery pattern matches the consumption of the assets. Mr. Dunkel's proposal instead has a very different recovery pattern.

2081 Q. Please illustrate further the difference between the straight line recovery and the 2082 decelerated recovery pattern Mr. Dunkel proposes.

A. Figure 7 below shows the annual depreciation rates for each proposal. As the chart shows, the traditional approach results in a consistent depreciation rate each year. In contrast, Mr. Dunkel's proposal results in increasing depreciation rates each year.

Page 100 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos



Figure 7: Comparison of Annual Depreciation Rates Based on Traditional and DPU Methods, Account 356

2086 **Q.** Given the presentation in Figure 7, does this mean that the depreciation rates for

2087 assets in service would increase each year under Mr. Dunkel's proposal?

- A. Yes. The depreciation rate he proposes for each account would not recover the full
 service value of the assets currently in service over their lives unless the depreciation
 rates are adjusted each year.
- 2091 Q. Does this mean that Mr. Dunkel's proposal is sensitive to the age of the assets in
 2092 service?
- A. Yes. In contrast to the straight line method, under Mr. Dunkel's proposal the
 depreciation rates need to increase each year in order to recover the net salvage costs
 for the assets in service.

2096 Impact on Customer Rates

2097 Q. Aside from depreciation expense, do the different methods have any other 2098 impact on customer rates?

A. Yes. Any method of depreciation has an impact on rate base over the lives of the
plant assets as rate base includes original plant cost less accumulated depreciation. By
deferring costs to the future, Mr. Dunkel's proposal will result in higher net plant rate
base over the life of the assets than would occur under the traditional accrual method.
As a result, these methods will usually produce some short-term savings but result in
higher total costs to ratepayers over the lives of the plant assets.

2105 Q. Please provide an example to illustrate the impact on rate base of each proposal.

2106 To show this impact I will again use Account 356 Overhead Conductors and Devices. A. 2107 To model the impact of each proposal, I have assumed that new additions to plant 2108 occur at a rate of three percent per year. Based on this assumption, as well as the 2109 proposed survivor curve and net salvage, I am able to project the plant in service and 2110 the accumulated depreciation per books based on each proposal. Using the 2111 Company's approved rate of return we can calculate the depreciation expense and 2112 return on rate base for each proposal. The total of these two amounts for each year for 2113 the period 2012 through 2050 is presented in Figure 8 below.



Figure 8: Comparison of Total Depreciation Expense and Return on Rate Base Based on Traditional and DPU Methods, Account 356, 2013-2050

As illustrated in Figure 8, while Mr. Dunkel's proposal initially results in a lower cost of service, within a relatively short period of time, this proposals result in a higher cost to customers. Once the costs cross over, the Mr. Dunkel's proposal will result in higher customer rates indefinitely. The difference between Mr. Dunkel's proposal and PacifiCorp's proposal is further illustrated in Figure 9 below, which graphs the difference between his alternative proposal and PacifiCorp's traditional accrual method.



Figure 9: Difference in Total Depreciation Expense and Return on Rate Base between DPU Proposed Net Salvage Method and PacifiCorp Proposal Account 356, 2013-2050

Q. Mr. Dunkel argues that the methodology you have used represents an
"overcharge."⁹³ Do you agree?

A. No. Mr. Dunkel can only make this statement by ignoring the rate base impacts of each proposal, which I have demonstrated in the preceding examples. The traditional accrual method for net salvage has been used for a long time for RMP customers in Utah. As a result, customer rates are lower than had Mr. Dunkel's proposal been in place for this time. In other words, the consistent use of the traditional method means

Page 104 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

⁹³ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 53, line 886.

2128that the situation for current customers is similar to the situation to the right of the2129crossover point in Figure 5 – customer rates on a cost of service basis are lower due2130in large part to the rate base effects of prospectively accruing for net salvage. These2131costs will continue to remaining lower for future customers than had Mr. Dunkel's2132proposal been in place.

In contrast, Mr. Dunkel's proposal results only in a short term windfall for current customers, who benefit from the rate base impact of past net salvage accruals but also pay a lower depreciation charge due to artificially low net salvage estimates. As Figures 5 and 6 show, this is only a temporary windfall, and after a transition period future customers will pay more than they otherwise would have. Thus, Mr. Dunkel's proposal is patently unfair – current customers are subsidized by past and future customers.

Q. Is it appropriate to ask current customers to pay for future costs of removal at a price level that is greater than today's price level?

2142 A. Yes. The future cost to remove an item of plant is part of the service value that it 2143 renders to current customers and a ratable portion of such costs should be recovered 2144 from these customers. That is the definition of depreciation, i.e., the loss in service 2145 value during a specific period. As these future costs are recovered from current 2146 customers, they are deducted from rate base. This deduction in the amount on which 2147 the utility is entitled to earn a fair return, in effect, represents an amount on which the 2148 customer earns a return. That is, as customers provide for the future cost of removal, 2149 they receive a return on such amounts. This is fair compensation for making payment 2150 prior to the cost incurrence by the utility. Further, as already noted, by charging

Page 105 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

customers for these costs during the life of the plant the customers that benefit from the plant, or consume its service value, are the ones that pay for such service. Customers paying today for future costs of removal and receiving a return on such payments is no different than the utility recovering today amounts that it invested many years ago, but on which it earned a return until the amount was recovered from customers.

2157 Q. How does the total cost compare for both methods over the long term?

A. Table 2 below shows the total depreciation expense and return on rate base for each proposal for the period 2012 through 2050, and compares the total for each alternative method to the traditional accrual method. As the table illustrates, each alternative proposal results in a higher total cost. Further, these higher costs will be even more significant after 2050.

Table 2: Comparison of Total Depreciation Expense and Return, 2012-2050

	PacifiCorp	DPU
Total Cost	4,214,721,463	4,527,286,164
Difference from		
PacifiCorp	-	312,564,702

2163 Cost Based

- 2164 Q. Does Mr. Dunkel argue that the traditional method for net salvage is not "cost-
- 2165 **based**"?
- 2166 A. Yes, he does.

2167 Q. How does Mr. Dunkel define the term "cost-based"?

A. He argues that "to be cost-based, the cost must be determined in the same value of
currency that will be collected from the ratepayer."⁹⁴

2170 **Q.** Is it typical for depreciation practices to meet this definition of "cost"?

A. No. Depreciation is normally based on the straight-line recovery of the service value of the assets in service. The service value is equal to the original cost of an asset less net salvage. Both the original cost and the net salvage are based on the nominal cost that either has been or will be expended. Mr. Dunkel's use of the term "cost-based" is more similar to a present value based concept, which is not typically used in ratemaking.

Q. Does the use of historical original cost for plant in service meet Mr. Dunkel's definition of "cost-based"?

A. No, it does not. The original cost of plant in service is recovered using the straight line method over the lives of the assets in service. Based on Mr. Dunkel's use of the term "cost-based," depreciation accruals using the straight line method would not even recover the full cost of the assets in service.

2183 Q. Can you provide an example to illustrate this point?

A. Yes. Mr. Dunkel provides a hypothetical example on page 52 of his Direct Testimony
to illustrate his "cost-based" concept. In his example an asset is placed in service in
2013 with a 30-year service life. He also assumes an inflation rate of 3.7 percent

2187 Mr. Dunkel's discussion is based on the retirement cost of the asset, but we

2188 will assume that the original cost to install the asset is \$300,000, in today's dollars.

Page 107 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

⁹⁴ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 53, lines 889-890.
The straight line recovery of the \$300,000 over the 30-year service life recovers \$10,000 per year. However, as Mr. Dunkel argues that future dollars will be worth less than today's dollars, the value in today's dollars of the actual depreciation expense charged to ratepayers will be less than \$10,000 each year. For example, in the final year the asset is in service, the depreciation expense of \$10,000 in 2042 dollars will only be worth \$3,487 in today's dollars⁹⁵.

Based on a consistent application of Mr. Dunkel's "cost-based" concept, in today's dollars (that is, the "same value of currency" as when the cost is expended) only \$186,035 of the \$300,000 original cost is actually recovered. By Mr. Dunkel's logic, this would represent an under-charge. It should also be noted that the undercharge for the original cost of the asset is much larger than the "overcharge" for net salvage Mr. Dunkel presents in his testimony.

2201 Q. Is Mr. Dunkel's "cost-based" concept consistently applied?

2202 No. Mr. Dunkel only applies this concept to the future net salvage costs for the A. 2203 Company's assets. He does not apply this concept to any other part of the Company's 2204 depreciation expense. Thus, while Mr. Dunkel makes many incorrect accusations that 2205 the methodologies in the depreciation study are an attempt to increase depreciation 2206 expense; it is in fact Mr. Dunkel that takes the inconsistent approach. Mr. Dunkel's 2207 approach is only to apply this "cost-based" concept to the portion of depreciation that 2208 will *reduce* depreciation expense. Contrary to the long-established and widely 2209 accepted use of the straight-line method to recover the full service value of the 2210 Company's assets, Mr. Dunkel has proposed to radically change the depreciation

⁹⁵ Equal to \$10,000 divided by 1.037^29.

Page 108 – Rebuttal Testimony of John J. Spanos

2211 methodologies in a way that will decrease depreciation expense in the short term but 2212 cost customers more in the long term.

2213 Implementation of Mr. Dunkel's Proposal

Q. Mr. Dunkel claims that your method increases costs for future inflation, but does not apply a present value to those costs. Is this an accurate description of the traditional method?

2217 A. No. The traditional method compares historical retirements to historical net salvage. 2218 Because these transactions are recorded at different price levels, there is some 2219 inflation included. However, he incorrectly characterizes this approach as calculating 2220 "net salvage in future inflated dollars"⁹⁶ or "effectively assuming future inflation will equal past inflation."97 As I will demonstrate, the net salvage estimates in the 2221 2222 depreciation study do not include the level of inflation included that Mr. Dunkel 2223 assumes in his calculations. As a result, his calculations in fact significantly 2224 understate the present value of current costs.

Q. Please provide an example to illustrate the actual impact of inflation on your estimates.

A. Consider Account 356, the calculations for which Mr. Dunkel has included in his testimony. Mr. Dunkel assumes that the net salvage estimate of negative 30 percent includes 60 years of inflation (based on the average service life for this account), and uses this as a starting point for his calculations. As a result, he gets a "present value" net salvage estimate of negative 13.3 percent.

⁹⁶ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 54, lines 910-911.

⁹⁷ Dunkel Direct Testimony, p. 54, lines 906-911.

However, the net salvage estimate was based on historical data that had far less inflation included. The most recent five year average net salvage in the historical data for this account was negative 31 percent. However, the retirements upon which this percentage is based were on average only 27.4 years old, not 60 years old. Thus, there is on average less than half of the years of inflation Mr. Dunkel assumes in his calculations.

Q. If there is much less inflation in the historical data, what should Mr. Dunkel's starting point have been?

A. To properly apply his methodology, Mr. Dunkel should have inflated the net salvage estimate further to include the number of years of inflation that would occur to the average service life. Applying an additional 32.6 years of inflation (60-27.4) to the negative 30 percent estimate would result in an inflated net salvage estimate of negative 78.6 percent⁹⁸. Thus, the traditional method is actually very conservative in terms of the amount of inflation included in the estimates.

If this negative 78.6 percent amount is used as the starting point in Mr. Dunkel's model, the present value net salvage percent that results is negative 34.7 percent. That is, a properly calculated present value method actually results in a higher estimate for this account than my estimate under the traditional approach. Thus, Mr. Dunkel's application of his methodology is in fact significantly understating the present value of net salvage costs.

⁹⁸ Based on 3 percent inflation over 32.6 years.

- Q. Have you done any further analysis to assess the reasonableness of thecompany's net salvage estimates?
- A. Yes. After reviewing Mr. Dunkel's testimony, I have asked the Company for
 additional information to help demonstrate not only the reasonableness of the
 Company's net salvage estimates, but also that they are in fact very conservative
 estimates.

2258 Q. Which plant account have you used for this analysis?

- A. I have used Account 364 Poles, Towers, and Fixtures. The Company has a 2011 plant balance of \$319,266,142 for this account, and I have estimated negative 80 percent net salvage for this account for Utah property in the depreciation study, which corresponds to approximately \$255 million in future net salvage.
- 2263 Q. Do you know how many poles the company has in service for this account?
- A. Yes. The Company has approximately 379,000 poles.
- 2265 Q. Has the Company estimated the cost to remove a pole?
- A. Yes. The Company has provided an estimate of the cost to remove a typical pole,
 which currently is approximately \$1,226.⁹⁹
- 2207 which currently is upproximatory \$1,220.
- 2268 Q. Based on these figures, what is the current cost to remove all of the poles in the
- 2269 Company's Utah distribution system?
- A. The removal of all poles would be approximately \$464 million. Even with a 20
 percent gross salvage, this represents net salvage of approximately \$400 million.

⁹⁹ This is in fact the estimate for a fairly simple removal of a pole, as it assumes that the pole is clean, the lines are not energized, and there is a relatively short travel time. More complex jobs would be more expensive.

2272 Q. How does this compare to the estimate in the depreciation study?

- A. This is quite a bit higher than the net salvage costs estimated in the depreciation study, in which the negative 80 percnet net salvage estimate corresponds to approximately \$255 million at year end 2011.
- 2276 Q. What can you conclude based on these analyses?
- A. This analysis demonstrates that the estimates in the depreciation study are in fact very conservative estimates of future net salvage costs. Indeed, for this account the net salvage estimate in the depreciation study results in much less net salvage than the current cost to remove the Company's poles in today's dollars.
- Mr. Dunkel's discussions of inflation and present value overstate the impact of price level on the net salvage estimates. Had his methodology been properly applied, it would have taken into account both the actual level of inflation included in the historical data as well as the fact that the estimates in the depreciation study for many plant accounts are very conservative when compared to the historical data.¹⁰⁰
- Mr. Dunkel's approach begins with a very conservative estimate of future costs and reduces the value even further. This approach results in net salvage estimates that are far too low, and in many cases that are well below the current cost to remove assets. Indeed, for Account 364 the net salvage estimate in the depreciation study is only approximately 64 percent of the current cost to remove the Company's poles. Mr. Dunkel's estimate starts with the estimate from the depreciation study and reduces the costs further. His estimate of negative 34.4 percent only represents

¹⁰⁰ For Account 364, the historical net salvage data shows an average of negative 132 percent, while the estimate in the depreciation study is negative 80 percent.

2293 approximately 27 percent of the *current* net salvage costs for removing the 2294 Company's poles.

2295 Summary

2296 Q. Please summarize your testimony on mass property net salvage.

2297 A. Mr. Dunkel has proposed a radical change to the longstanding and widely accepted 2298 traditional straight line method for accruing for net salvage in depreciation rates. Mr. 2299 Dunkel has provided very little evidence that such a significant departure from the 2300 traditional ratemaking treatment for net salvage is either widely accepted or 2301 necessary, and as I have shown his methodology has rarely been accepted in the 2302 industry. As I have also demonstrated, his methodology defers costs to future 2303 customers and results in customer rates that are higher than the traditional method on 2304 a cost of service basis. I recommend that the Commission continue to adopt 2305 depreciation rates based on the traditional straight line method for accruing for net 2306 salvage.

- 2307 <u>VIII. CONCLUSION</u>
- 2308 Q. Does this conclude your rebuttal testimony?

2309 A. Yes.